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ODEAR BOBRDBY:

This may be the first time in history that an annual letter to shareholders has
been addressed to a person who has not been, is not now, and may never be
a shareholder. But the moment [ left your office last June after our discussion
about a potential purchase of Rock of Ages shares by your small cap fund, |
[ knew I had to write the 2002 shareholders’ letter to you. I sent you a copy

of the annual report by Federal

Express because I wanted you This m ay he the ﬁ st

to receive it directly from me. . . . -
Y fime in history that an

=

More than 20 years ago a aAnnua

[

long-time friend said to me, ] . . |
: ! holders  has  been

“Kurt, you are the most brutally .
addressed to a person |
honest person I have ever known.” f

( who has not been, is
If the word “brutally” were exclud-

. wd  ma E
ed, this statement clearly would be not now, ana may

a wonderful compliment. That sin- never be a shareholder.
gle word, however, gives me pause.
Do I lack the patience, diplomacy or vocabulary to cause a friend to choose
an adjective that suggests insensitivity? In the end, I decided that it was a
compliment. By “brutally,” I believe he meant that what I said really struck
home. Well, brutally honest I may be, but only up to the limit imposed by
Regulation FD of what CEOs can reveal in one-to-one meetings. The letter

to shareholders is one place where I can say it all, since it is publicly available
for everyone to see. And in this year’s letter, saying it all is what [ intend to do.

[ will answer your specific questions in the Philosophical Musings section,

after [ review the results for 2002 and the outlook for 2003.
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Comments on 2002 Results
Revenue for 2002 was $92,514,000. Net income, after a one-time severance charge of
$750,000, or $0.07 per share, but before the cumulative effect of changes in accounting
principles for goodwill and quarry block inventory, was $3,795,000, or $0.48 per diluted share.

After non-cash charges for changes in accounting principles for goodwill and quarry block

inventory totaling $28,710,000, the net loss for 2002 was $24,915,000, or $3.17 per share.

For 2001, revenue was $94,305,000. Net income was $3,207,000, or $0.42 per diluted share,
before a loss on the disposal of certain manufacturing and quarrying assets of $2,774,000, or

$0.36 per share. After this loss, net income was $433,000, or $0.06 per diluted share.

Quarries

Our quarries had a record year in 2002. Operating income was almost $8 million, and would
have been about $1 million higher had we not made a voluntary change in how we account

for our year-end inventory of granite blocks. Prior to 2002 we used the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method of inventory accounting, and wrote the blocks quarried in prior years either up or down
to the average annual cost for the year we were reporting. While perfectly proper and in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), this method of accounting did
have the effect of creating a year-end non-cash inventory gain or loss on blocks quarried in prior
years. Historically, these year-end gains or losses tended to even out over time. This is evident
from the fact that the cumulative effect over the prior 20 years of the change in accounting
principle for block inventory we adopted as of January 1, 2002 resulted in just a

$281,000 (4 cents per share) after-tax charge booked in the year’s first quarter.

Under the newly adopted specific average annual cost method, which is

also in accordance with GAAP, all blocks are valued based on actual extraction

costs in the year quarried, regardless of changes in costs in subsequent vears.
This new method eliminates the impact on current-year GAAP income of any
non-cash gains or losses created solely by subsequent changes in extraction costs on inventory
carried over from prior years. It's worth noting that under the old FIFO method, net income
for 2002, after the severance charge and before the goodwill write-off, would have been $0.55
per diluted share versus the $0.48 we reported. Results for prior years were not materially

affected by this change in accounting principle.

Last year’s letter explained the goodwill write-off (see page 7 of our 2001 annual report),
so T won't go over this ground again. Suffice it to say that we have taken the conservative

approach a second time by adopting this new quarry block inventory accounting method.
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Manufacturing

Our manufacturing operations also had a great year, with operating income increasing to
$2.1 million. This is especially impressive since the profit contribution we normally earn
from high-margin precision products manufacturing did not materialize in 2002 due to
weak cyclical demand. This means that our monumental manufacturing operation did

extremely well. You may recall that the highest reported earnings in our manufacturing

group was $4.2 million in 1998. This Our Sff@f/ﬁg 2002
was achieved solely as a result of inven-

e o PP SR B P s
tory increases of $4 million primarily manu j’@CﬁM&f mg res ults

associated with the plants in Elberton, RN ,
. | are sustainable and
Georgia we purchased in 1997. In 1999,

2000 and 2001, manufacturing earnings WZM grow as we bwﬂd
dropped to $1 million or less.

out our retasl nerwork.
We believe that our strong 2002

manufacturing results are sustainable

and will grow as we build out our retail

network, which will increase manufac-

turing volume. As I explained in last

year’s letter to shareholders, our deci-
sion to reduce manufacturing capacity
and focus on branded
products has now proven

to be the correct one.

Cemeteries

Our cemetery segment had a nice turnaround, moving from an operating loss of about
$400,000 for 2001 to an operating profit of almost $700,000 for 2002. We were helped
by the completion of a pre-sold mausoleum, which allowed us to recognize revenue
and income generated in prior years. I should note that our cemeteries were profitable

even without the mausoleum.
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Retail

Sales in our retail group declined by almost $5 million in 2002 compared to 2001. Nevertheless,
[ was pleased that Terry Shipp, who was named head of our retail group only last summer, and

his entire team were able to deliver a modest profit of $400,000 for the year. Revenue for 2001

benefitted from the large backlog we reported at December 31, 2000. But because we closed a
number of underperforming stores and eliminated wholesale sales by our retail outlets during
2001, order receipts for that year declined to about $39.9 million and backlog at December 31,
2001 declined by about $2 million to $10.5 million. The good news is that order receipts in 2002
were $39 million despite having fewer stores in our network and no wholesale sales, and backlog
at year-end 2002 increased 5% to $11.1 million. In other words, on a same-store basis, order

receipts were higher in 2002 than in 2001.

Here’s some information that convinces me of the validity of our retail strategy and clearly
identifies our struggles in retail as a problem of execution not concept. Eight of our 16 retail

profit centers operated profitably in 2002. These eight profit centers exceeded, on a collective

basis, our target 15% store-level EBIT margin, representing a collective store-level profit of

$3.8 million on sales of $23.4 million. The other eight profit centers which broke even (1% EBIT
margins or less) or lost money in 2002 had a collective store-level loss of $1 million on sales of
about $15 million. This reduced our overall store level EBIT to $2.8 million, or just over 7%

of total retail revenue. For obvious reasons, Terry Shipp and his team are very aggressively

attacking these eight units that have simply not properly executed the business model that has

proven itself on 61% of our sales. I am confident that they will correct the problems, and that

we will begin to see the benefits in 2003.

Sales, marketing, administrative, and other expenses at the retail “corporate” level amounted
to $2.4 million for 2002, and we expect these expenses to remain roughly flat in 2003. So even
assuming no increase in retail sales, if we only

A 5 CE@) I b o Z Z eve (fh at improve the underperforming units to break

even, we obtain a $1 million improvement in
my ]Ob is to build the reported retail operating income. If these units
earn 7.5% store-level EBIT, which is

7 for Tergles
COMP ﬁﬂfiy J ortne lO ﬂg just half of that earned by our other

ferm by l ncreas ZW g units, reported retail operating
income increases by over $2 million.

revenue ang eqrnings

When these underperforming units

on a SMSI'QMWMFOZ@ b@gi& reach our target 15% EBIT margin,

we report over $3 million of retail

If I do my job well, the

operating income even with no increase in total

sto CZ( pm' ce 'MZWWZ @f@ij Y retail sales over 2002. Obviously, as we expand

our retail network, retail operating income has
17 4 o f o /
w le Zﬁk@ care oy 1se.). the potential to become even larger.
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Casn Flow and Accounting

We generated $6.9 million in cash from operations during 2002, reduced debt by $1.5
million, and increased cash by $2.8 million in anticipation of a major stock buy-back of
500,500 shares that was completed on January 6, 2003. As of that date, total shares outstanding
were 7,186,041, down 7.9% from vear-end 2001. Book value on December 31, 2002, before
this buy-back, was $8.15 per share. Assuming the buy-back had occurred as of December 31,
2002, book value on that date would have been $8.35 per share.

Rock of Ages’ cash flow is stable and reliable, and more than adequate to support a
dividend program. In addition to the share repurchases, to further enhance shareholder
value, our Board believes that the time is right to pay a cash dividend. We will begin with a
modest quarterly dividend of $0.01 per share, which we will reassess periodically to reflect
the Company’s performance. This initial dividend represents a total payout of just 4% of
Rock of Ages’ cash flow from operations in 2002, and about 8% of earnings per share

before the changes in accounting principles.

Outlook for 2003

We have issued guidance for 2003 earnings in the range of $0.65 to $0.70 per diluted
share. We do not issue quarterly guidance since weather factors beyond our control
have a significant positive or negative effect on our operations, particularly in the

first and fourth quarters.

We expect our quarries to show another improvement in 2003 because of continuing
strong demand, our manufacturing operations to achieve about the same or slightly better
earnings, the cemeteries to show reduced earnings as a result of the large mausoleum sale in
2002, and our retail group to improve operating earnings by at least $1 million. Our retail
management team believes that a significantly greater improvement is achievable, but we

elected to remain cautious and update guidance based on developments during 2003.

Excluding the write-off of goodwill and loss on sale of assets, if we achieve the low-end of

our guidance for 2003, Rock of Ages’ diluted earnings per share for the past five years will be:

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
21¢ 33¢ 42¢ 48¢ 65¢

I believe that this is good progress for a company that is investing in people and assets to
execute a new business model and become a fully integrated quarrier, manufacturer and

retailer of granite memorials.




PHILOSOPHICAL
MUSTINGS

Ruildin Company. not a Stock Price
bunging a Lomparny, not a SI0CK rrice

L

“A good traveler has no fixed plans and is not intent upon arriving.
A good artist lets his intuition lead him wherever it wants.

A good scientist has freed himself of concepts

and keeps his mind open to what is.
What is a good man but a bad man’s teacher?
What is a bad man but a good man’s job?

If you don’t understand this,

you will get lost, however intelligent you are.

. »l
It is the great secret.

Bobby, one of the questions you asked in June that really stuck with me was this:
“In view of your ownership of supermajority Class B shares, why shouldn’t I
consider the annual Philosophical Musings section of your shareholder letter
completely disingenuous?” No one could possibly say this is anything but a
brutally honest question. You had many other equally blunt questions about

ownership, returns, management, and related issues that I also will answer here.

The fundamental answer to all of your questions begins with my management
philosophy. As CEO, I believe that my job is to build the company for the long-term
by increasing revenue and earnings on a sustainable basis. If I do my job well, the

stock price ultimately will take care of itself.

! Unless otherwise indicated, all quotes in this section are from the Tao Te Ching by Lao Tzu
written around 500BC as translated from Chincse by Stephen Mitchell.




Perhaps the old-fashioned concept
of long-term investing is an anachronism
for young money managers like you.
Everybody talks a good game about

being a long-term investor, but many

professionals today are quick to head for

the exits at the first disappointment. cannor bﬂ/lﬂ Zd a com f ) me

Instant gratification appears to have e

wd ic dnomed 1o fai
and is doomed to faslure.

become the dominant concern for

an increasing number of investors.

I understand that this behavior may be
necessary to succeed in your business,
but it is not something I consider in

building Rock of Ages.

If you set out to build a company

for the long term, the people you really need to satisty are customers, people who refer
customers, employees, suppliers, and the communities where the company does business. '
Our success with these people is what will drive sustainable earnings growth, which in |
turn is the one and only sure way to deliver superior shareholder returns. I believe that |
too many CEOs and investors have forgotten this simple philosophy. We have seen many .
examples in recent years of the damage that can be done to companies, their employees,

their customers, and the majority of their shareholders by CEOs who are more focused |
on driving up the stock price for their own short-term benefit than on the hard work of

building the company for the long term. :

[

The Class B Stock
“If you realize all things change, there is nothing you will try to hold on to. |
If you aren’t afraid of dying, there is nothing you can’t achieve.
Trying to control the future is like trying to take the master carpenter’s place.
When you handle the master carpenter’s tools,

chances are that you will cut your hand.”

A well-known shareholder advocate, Robert Augustus Gardner Monks, once said, “The cor-

poration with a million shareholders has no owners. Shareholders should take responsibility




for the corporations they own which in turn should be run for their benefit.” Ralph Whitworth
of the Relational Investor Fund said, “You'd be amazed at the changes in dynamics when you

have a large shareholder in the Board room.” I agree wholeheartedly with both of them. [ am

Rock of Ages’ largest shareholder. I sit on the Board with the third largest shareholder and
another in the top ten. I also routinely consult my brother, the second largest shareholder,

on any important shareholder matters.

In reality, the Class B issue is much ado about nothing. Insiders (officers, directors,
employees and their family members) would own about 50% of the total shares outstanding
even in the absence of the two class structure, with 31% of that total owned by me, my

brother and our children.

In any event, the Class B shares exist so that we can properly execute our management
philosophy, even if it takes longer to achieve our goals in retail than some professional
investors would like. Sorry if you view this as unfair or inappropriate, but you and others who
feel the same way are free not to invest in Rock of Ages or to sell your shares. I believe that the
Class A and B structure was a good decision for this stage of the company’s development.

I promise you that there will come a time when this will change and the Class B shares will

become a thing of the past. What I can’t tell you is exactiy when this will happen, because

it will depend on the performance of our retail group. Consistent with our long-term

philosophy, we still consider retail to be a relatively new business for Rock of Ages.

The Right Jockey
“If you want to govern the people, you must place yourself below them.
If you want to lead the people, you must learn how to follow them.

When the best leader’s work is done, the people say ‘we did it ourselves.”

Another question you asked that got my attention was this: “As a granite quarrier
and former lawyer, why do you think that you can build and manage a successful
retailer of granite memorials?” The answer can be found in the words of Lao Tzu
quoted above. Based on my experience, anyone who thinks he is smarter than all

of his employees and can do the job better himself cannot build a company and is

doomed to failure. To me it’s elemental that you need to find the best and most
experienced people you can to do the job and then let them do it. It’s also crucial
that they personally believe in, publicly and enthusiastically support, and are absolutely

committed to achieving the company’s strategy. And of course they ultimately must achieve

acceptable results.




So when we decided to move into retail, I talked to several of the smartest memorial
retailers in the United States, including John Keith, head of the Keith Monument Company
of Kentucky, in my opinion the best monument retailer in America. John’s company was our
first acquisition, and it remains among our best performing retail business units. As the first
President of our Retail Group, John did a fabulous job establishing our brand program,
sales training protocols and manuals, pricing policies, acquisition strategies and much more.
But in time he decided voluntarily to step down to consultant status. John Forney succeeded
John Keith and likewise did a great job designing and implementing network-wide
information systems and controls. He also persuaded Dennis Merchant to move
from our manufacturing plant to run retail operations, and kept Terry Shipp from

Keith Monument in place to run retail sales.

John Forney chose to return to his former employer, the investment firm Raymond
James and Associates, in the summer of 2002. At about the same time, a consulting company
we had retained to do a top-to-bottom analysis
of our retail group delivered its report. The
consultants told us our strategy was right and
our model was right with very modest tweak-
ing. They reaffirmed we needed to continue

to focus our attention on straightening out

those retail outlets that were not correctly

Th@?'@ are OWZV wo SZ[OCZ( implementing our model and underperform-

ing as a result. Since the consultants had spent

prices that are important,

a lot of time with our retail people, I inquired

ﬁﬁe pﬂce yOM p@y fo buj/ whether they thought we had someone in-

house who could take over retail on John

and the price you get

Forney’s departure. Their immediate reply was
’Wh@ﬁl you se N “Terry Shipp.” I shared their opinion. When

[ asked Terry if he wanted the job, he said
with absolutely no hesitation, “Only if you guarantee that Dennis Merchant will stay

and run retail operations for me.” This bias toward teamwork is key to our success at retail.

I'm not the jockey of our retail group and never have been. My job is to get the right
people in place and help them succeed in every way I can. I take full responsibility for these
decisions. 'm convinced we've got the right people running retail and our other divisions.
People are the crucial element in building a successful company. You would never work for
a company if you didn’t respect and trust those who work with you. I believe that an

investor should evaluate a company on exactly the same basis.




Taking the Company Private

“If your happiness depends on money, you will never be happy with yourself”

Bobby, you and almost every other money manager have suggested we take the company
private. Some even offer to invest with us to help us do it. Many told me that they
think I could make a lot more money personally by going private. A portfolio manager
with one of the biggest institutions said to me, “Kurt, you are spending $750,000 or
muore per year for fees, auditors, and other expenses for the privilege of being public.
You need to understand that with a company your size in your industry—nobody

cares.” Perhaps time will prove him right. I don’t think so.

Having purchased Rock of Ages in a “turnaround” leveraged buyout in 1984, I know how
to do a going-private transaction. I also know what happens after you do it. You must either put
growth plans on hold, potentially forgoing attractive acquisition opportunities to reduce lever-
age, or you are forced to sell shares to private investors to continue to fund growth. The
latter approach means that you increase debt and lose liquidity for no reason at all, except to
exchange public investors for private investors whose time horizons may be even shorter than
the public investors they replaced. In my view this is not an option unless we throw in the towel
on retail, or succeed in retail as we expect and our earnings and growth are not rewarded with
a far higher stock price. If that is what happens, then we will react accordingly. At the moment,
however, a going-private transaction is not on the conference table. It’s not even in the
conference room. We currently have the debt capacity and access to capital we need to

build Rock of Ages for the long term.

Shareholder Returns
“The soft overcomes the hard. The slow overcomes the fast.

Let your workings remain a mystery. Just show people the results.”

Shareholder returns are everyone’s favorite topic, and I frequently am criticized for Rock of
Ages’ poor returns have been based on the IPO price. Here’s a little basic philosophy about
returns and stock prices. There are only two stock prices that are important — the price you pay
to buy and the price you get when you sell. The only other part of the equation is the amount of

time between when you buy and when you sell.

I wish the transition to a vertically integrated retailer had been seamless. It was not; it has
been much harder and taken much longer than we expected. But I manage my investments in
accordance with my long-term philosophy. My experience is that superior returns come from

building a company with sustainable growth.




[ have never sold a single share of Rock of Ages stock. In fact, I have been a

significant buyer since the IPO. To make it easier for our shareholders to trace my

ownership of Rock of Ages shares, and learn my cost basis, on March 18, 2003 I filed an

amended 13D form with the Securities Exchange Commission. You will find it on our

web site, www. rockofages.com, by clicking the Investor Relations box on the home page,
the SEC Filings box, and the Filing SC 13D/A 3/18/2003.

The average compounded annual rate of return on my original 1,061,489 Rock of Ages

shares (1,000,000 shares now held by me and 61,489 shares now held by trusts for my sons),

on which I trace my basis to 1975, is 31% per year based on book value at December 31,

We are succeeding in
building the company and
expanding our opportunities
to significantly increase

a1

sustainable profits

2002. My return would be lower rela-
tive to the stock’s market price as of
that date, but I think book value is the
appropriate measure to use. This is not
a bad compounded annual return over
that time frame by most standards. If
you take the average cost of all 135,000
shares I have purchased since January 1,
1999 and assume for simplicity that

I acquired them all on that date (this is

the way real long-term investors look at things), you will find I have an average annual

return on those shares of 33% per year using book value at year end 2002. This is also not a

bad return given the performance of the market indexes over that time.

But as my wife points out, all this talk about returns is meaningless at this stage

since all I have are pieces of paper representing the shares, not the cash from selling them.

The ultimate return I earn on my stock, and the return earned by all of our shareholders,

depends on the performance of Rock of Ages in the future. I am very confident about our

company’s future and that’s why I've never sold even one share. I expect the compounded

returns in the future to be far more attractive than they have been in the past because we

are succeeding in building the company and expanding our opportunities to significantly

increase sustainable profits.




Let me make one final comment about the long-term effect of our dividend program. It
seems to me that many investors consider yield to be a minor matter. This may be a natural

outgrowth of the increasingly intense focus on daily movements in the stock price. But truly

long-term investors look at dividends on the basis of the yield on their original cost. This is of
course a very simplistic approach (Lao Tzu says simplicity, patience and compassion are our
three great treasures), but I find that it provides a helpful perspective. The best stock in my
portfolio based on this analysis is Exxon, which is yielding about 2.6% on the basis of today’s
market price. But I began accumulating Exxon in the 1960s, and by 2002, the dividend yield

was 2.25 times my cost per share. That’s a 225% annual cash yield on cost.

Exxon is exceptional because of splits and big increases in dividends, but my

cash yield on cost also is high on DuPont (37%), Gillette (17%), and General

Electric (16%). Assuming a $0.04 per share dividend in 2003, Rock of Ages will ga oo :r

provide a 9% yield on my total cost for the all the shares I own.

Bobby, I want to sincerely thank you for being the catalyst for me to write
this letter. I've wanted to answer these questions openly in the appropriate forum for some
time to help people better understand how I think about Rock of Ages and why I have so

much confidence in its future.

I close with special thanks to our patient shareholders, our customers, our suppliers,
our friends who refer customers to us, and most especially to all my wonderful fellow workers
(including our directors) at Rock of Ages. These people are the heart and soul of Rock of Ages,
and the reason that the future of our company is so bright. In time, I believe that the results
of our collective efforts to build Rock of Ages will bring rewards for all of us that far

exceed our current expectations.

Sincerely,

Y?(Wﬁ#- ™. &Mw\

Kurt M. Swenson
Chairman & CEO

PS.: To those of you who are disappointed for any reason with the content

of this year’s Philosophical Musings section as compared to prior years,

please understand that I strongly believe that what I said this vear needed
to be said just this once. Now it’s available for future reference. You can

look forward to a return to the normal format next year. B

| T T

e
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Rock of Ages Corporation (“Rock of Ages” or the “Company”) was
founded in 1885 and is an integrated granite quarrier, manufac-
turer and retailer whose principal product is granite memorials
used primarily in cemeteries. The Company believes that it is the
largest quarrier, manufacturer and retailer of finished granite
memorials and granite blocks for memorial use in North America,
based on revenues. The Company owns and operates 11 active
quarry properties and six manufacturing and sawing facilities in
North America, principally in Vermont and the Province of
Quebec. The Company markets and distributes its memorials on a
retail basis through approximately 99 Company-owned retail sales
outlets (including sales outlets located at certain cemeteries owned
by the Company located in the state of Kentucky) in the states
indicated in “Properties” below. The Company also sells memori-
als wholesale to approximately 70 independent authorized Rock of
Ages retailers in the United States as well as approximately 90
retailers in Canada. The Company markets its memorials at four
quality and price points under four separate brand names:
Signature, Sealmark, Golden Rule by Rock of Ages and Stone Eternal
by Rock of Ages. The Company also sells non-branded memorials.
The Company believes the Rock of Ages trademark is one of the
oldest and best-known brand names in the granite memorializa-
tion industry. The Company actively promotes its brand names
and places a seal bearing the brand name on each branded memo-
rial. All Rock of Ages branded memorials are supported by a per-
petual warranty with varying levels of coverage depending on the
brand.

Rock of Ages, Signature, Sealmark; Golden Rule by Rock of Ages,
Stone Eternal by Rock of Ages, American Black, Barre Gray, Bethel
White, Salisbury Pink, Gardenia White and Laurentian Pink are
tradenames or trademarks of the Company. The Company relies
on both registered and common law trademarks in the U.S. to pro-
tect its trademark rights.

As part of the Company’s growth strategy to focus its resources
on building and expanding its branded memorial retail distribu-
tion system and profitable quarry operations, and to increase the
profitability of the Company’s manufacturing operations, the
Company divested itself of two quarries and two non-core manu-
facturing facilities in 2001. In January 2002, the Company also sold
its Lawson manufacturing facility in Barre, Vermont (“Lawson”)
for a total sales price of $2,550,000 of which $2,300,000 was paid
at closing and $250,000 is payable pursuant to the terms of a
promissory note delivered by the buyer at the closing.

Also as part of its growth strategy, the Company has engaged in
various strategic acquisitions. From 1998 to 2000, the Company
acquired 26 retail monument companies and two memorial retail-
ers, expanding its retail presence to 15 states. In January 2001, the
Company acquired 16 cemetery properties and one memorial
retailer located in the state of Kentucky. During the second quar-
ter of 2002, the Company acquired a 1/3 equity interest in VIKA
Ltd., a Ukrainian closed joint stock company that owns rights to
quarry stone known as “Galactic Blue” on certain property located

in Zhytomir, Ukraine, for a purchase price of $475,000. In con-
nection with the share purchase, the Company acquired rights to
sell the output of the Galactic Blue quarry.

The Company has operations in four business segments:
Quarrying, Manufacturing, Retailing and Cemeteries. Included
within the business segments are operations that are unincorpo-
rated divisions of Rock of Ages and others that are separately
incorporated subsidiaries. Financial information by business seg-
ment and geographic area is incorporated herein by reference to
note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company.
In addition, information regarding the revenues of each business
segment is contained in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Risks attendant
to foreign operations are also contained in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of
Operations-Risk Factors that May Affect Future Results”
Additional information regarding each business segment and
Rock of Ages in general is set forth below and on the Company’s
web site at www.rockofages.com. The information provided on the
Company’s web site should not be considered a part of this annu-
al report.

Growth Strategy

The Company seeks to expand the scope and profitability of its
operations through a growth strategy that focuses on forward ver-
tical integration into retailing, thereby enabling the Company to
move closer to the ultimate customer. The principal elements of
the growth strategy include the following:

0 Expansion of Company-Owned Retail Network.
The Company anticipates that it will continue to
expand its Company-owned retail network by selec-
tively acquiring independent granite memorial retailers
and by opening new retail stores in selected markets in
North America. By expanding its Company-owned
retail network, the Company believes that it will cap-
ture the higher gross margins (relative to quarrying
and manufacturing gross margins) that have historical-
ly existed at the retail level. Where appropriate, the
Company may also acquire cemetery properties that
have the potential of expanding sales of its granite
memorials.

O Increased Emphasis on Independent Authorized
Dealers. The Company seeks to expand where appro-
priate its base of independent authorized Rock of Ages
retailers that are current or potential customers of the
Company in furtherance of its efforts to build an inte-
grated retail network consisting of Company-owned
and independent authorized Rock of Ages retail outlets
that sell the Company’s brands.

O Brand Enhancement. The Company believes that
the Rock of Ages brand is one of the best-known brand



names in the memorial industry. The Company will, as
a part of building its integrated network of Company-
owned retailers, continue to promote the Rock of Ages
brand and other proprietary brands sold at its
Company-owned and independent retail outlets and
independent authorized Rock of Ages dealers.

O Strategic Alliances with Funeral Homes and
Cemeteries. The Company has formed and anticipates
that it will continue to pursue strategic alliances with
funeral home and cemetery owners to sell granite
memorials in cooperation with them, in order to
increase both pre-need and at-need sales of granite
memorials.

O Selected Acquisitions of Quarries. While the
Company owns or controls many of the highest quali-
ty granite quarries in North America, the Company
will continue to explore the possibility of acquiring
selected granite quarriers in North America and inter-
nationally to assure that it will continue to have the col-
ors and grades of granites sought by retail purchasers
of granite memorials in North America, as well as
granites for other uses.

O Other Product Line Enhancements. The Company
intends to continue to expand and enhance its memo-
rial product lines in color, design and style. The
Company’s objective is to provide a full range of
memorials available at various price ranges.

Products

The Company’s principal products may be classified into three
general product lines: granite quarry products, manufactured
granite products and non-granite memorials and cemetery prod-
ucts. The principal raw material for both granite product lines is
natural granite as it comes from the ground with the primary dif-
ference between the product lines being the extent of the process-
ing or manufacturing of the granite. Non-granite memorials and
cemetery products include burial lots, community mausoleum
niches, lawn crypts, vaults, bronze markers and related services.
For each of the last three years, from 2002 to 2000, revenues
derived from the sale of granite products have accounted for 32%,
27% and 25%, respectively, of consolidated revenues while rev-
enues derived from the sale of manufactured granite products
have accounted for 63%, 69% and 75%, respectively, of consoli-
dated revenues. In each of the last three years, revenues attributa-
ble to the sale of non-granite memorials and cemetery products
accounted for less than 6% of consolidated revenues.

Granite Quarry Products. The principal quarry product sold by
the Company is granite blocks, the raw material of the dimension
granite industry. These blocks are extracted from quarries in vari-
ous sizes through a drilling, blasting and wire sawing process in
the quarry. The range of block sizes is large, but most manufac-

turers of granite memorials and other products generally require
minimum dimensions of height, width and length to maximize
the efficiency of their block sawing equipment in meeting the
required dimensions of the finished product. Granite blocks are
normally sold in heights from 2'6" to 5', widths of 3" to 5', and
lengths from 7' to 10". These blocks typically weigh between 20 and
30 tons.

Granite differs from deposit to deposit by color, grade and/or
quality. Rock of Ages quarries and sells blocks of (i) Barre Gray
granites from its Barre, Vermont quarry and gray granite from its
Stanstead, Quebec quarry, (ii) black granite from its American
Black quarry in Pennsylvania, (iii) pink granites from its
Laurentian Pink quarry in Quebec and its Salisbury Pink quarry in
North Carolina, (iv) white granites from its Bethel White quarry in
Vermont and its Gardenia White quarry in North Carolina, (v)
brownish red granite from its Autumn Rose quarry in Oklahoma
and (vi) grayish pink granites from its Kershaw and Coral Gray
quarries in South Carolina.

The Company sells granite blocks for memorial, building and
other uses. While each of the quarries owned by the Company sells
granite for memorial use and for building use, the output of the
Bethel White quarry, the Gardenia White quarry, and the Salisbury
Pink quarry are primarily sold and used for building granite use
outside North America and the output of the other quarries is pri-
marily used for memorial use in North America.

Granite blocks sold by the Company both in and outside
North America are sold by a quarry sales force. The Company’s
quarry sales force markets and advertises its granite blocks in var-
ious trade publications and by attending various trade shows
worldwide. Outside of North America, the Company’s quarry
sales force generally sells to the user or to independent distributors
who buy blocks from the Company and resell them. This includes
Rock of Ages Asia, a 50% Company-owned corporation.

Other quarry products include waste pieces not of a shape or
size suitable for manufacturing which are sold for riprap for
embankments, bridges or piers, and for other uses. In various
quarries, the Company has arrangements with crusher operators
who operate on or near the Company’s quarries and sell crushed
stone. The revenues and profits of these operations are not mate-
rial. The Company has no marketing and advertising programs for
these other quarry products.

Manufactured Products. The principal manufactured product of
Rock of Ages is granite memorials, which are sold to retailers of
granite memorials, including Company-owned outlets, and sub-
stantially all of which are placed in cemeteries in remembrance of
the life of a person or persons. The memorials sold by the
Company encompass a wide range of granites, including granite
blocks purchased from others, as well as a wide array of sizes, styles
and shapes ranging from small, inexpensive markers set flush to
the ground, to very elaborate and expensive personal mausoleums
of larger sizes available at various price ranges. The broad classifi-
cations of granite memorials used by the industry are generally
markers, hickeys, slants, standard uprights, estate uprights, pre-
assembled mausoleums and conventional mausoleums. From
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time to time memorial retailers or others order granite products
such as benches, steps and other products that may or may not be
for cemetery use. These are classified by the Company as memori-
al sales. The Company also sells public and civic memorials both
at wholesale and direct to the customer.

The Company is widely recognized for the personalized gran-
ite memorials it produces and the very large memorials it can pro-
duce. It has made memorials as large as thirty-five feet in length
from one block of granite, including a full size granite replica of a
Mercedes Benz automobile.

The Company’s granite memorials are sold to retailers by the
Company’s memorial sales force that regularly speaks with cus-
tomers by phone and makes personal visits to customers. The
Company provides various point-of-sale materials to its owned
and independent authorized Rock of Ages dealers and also adver-
tises in various trade publications.

The Company also manufactures certain precision granite
products, which are made along with memorials at the Company’s
Barre, Vermont plant. These products include surface plates,
machine bases, bases for coordinate measuring devices, press rolls
and other products manufactured to exacting dimensions. These
products are sold to the manufacturers of precision measuring
devices or end users. Precision products are sold by a precision
products sales force that phones or visits customers. The Company
also advertises its precision products in various trade publications
and provides printed sales materials to prospective customers.

Retail Products. The Company’s retail division markets and sells
granite, bronze and marble memorials primarily to consumers.
The Company currently owns and operates approximately 99
retail outlets in 15 states. The granite memorials sold at retail
include a wide variety of sizes, styles and shapes. The Company
sources memorials from its own plants and a number of addition-
al manufacturers in North America and elsewhere in the world.
The Company’s retail operations utilize a retail sales force that
markets and sells memorials through phone calls and direct meet-
ings with customers in their homes and at retail sales offices. The
Company advertises and promotes retail sales through direct mail
material, yellow page listings and newspaper advertising. The
Company’s retail sales outlets are positioned to sell branded and
unbranded memorials at all price points and qualities.

Cemetery Products, The Company’s cemetery division markets
and sells cemetery lots and funeral services such as grave openings
and closings. The cemetery division also markets and sells cemetery
merchandise such as vaults, bronze markers and niches in commu-
nity mausoleums at some of its cemeteries. The cemetery division
has opened sections in some of its cemeteries that allow the
placement of upright granite memorials. Sales of upright granite
memorials are handled either by cemetery sales personnel who have
been trained to sell such memorials, or by sales personnel from a
nearby Company-owned retail store. Revenue from sales of upright
granite memorials is recognized in the retail products segment.
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The Company quarries and manufactures granite in the United
States and Canada at the locations detailed under the heading
“Properties.” The Company also outsources the manufacturing of
certain memorial products pursuant to supply agreements with
other manufacturers. There were no plants acquired or material
additions to plants in 2002. Management befieves that the
Company’s manufacturing and quarrying capacity, together with
its manufacturing outsourcing arrangements, is generally suffi-
cient to meet anticipated production requirements for the foresee-
able future.

The most significant raw material used by the Company in its
manufacturing operations is granite blocks primarily from the
Company’s quarries. The Company has an adequate supply from
its quarries to supply its manufacturing operations. The Company
also purchases certain colors of granite, primarily red and black,
from other quarriers. The Company believes there is an adequate
supply of memorial granite available from its quarries and quar-
ries owned by others for the foreseeable future.

Significant supplies used by the Company in its manufacturing
operations include industrial diamond segments for saw blades
and wires, drill steel, drill bits and abrasive. There are a number of
sources for these supplies at competitive prices.

The Company had manufacturing backlogs of $10.6 million as
of December 31,2002 and $11.5 million as of December 31, 2001.
These backlogs occurred in the normal course of business. The
Company does not have a material backlog in its quarrying oper-
ations. The Company had retail backlogs of $11.1 million as of
December 31, 2002 and $10.5 million as of December 31, 2001.
The Company expects that substantially all of the backlog orders
will be filled during the 2003 fiscal year.

The Company does not normally maintain a significant inven-
tory of finished manufactured products in anticipation of future
orders in its manufacturing operations. The Company does main-
tain a significant inventory of memorials for display and delivery
purposes at its retail operations. Approximately 75% of the
Company’s manufactured product orders and retail orders are
delivered within two to twelve weeks, as is customary in the gran-
ite memorial industry. The delivery time depends on the size and
complexity of the memorial. The Company does accumulate
inventory of granite blocks from September through December in
preparation for the winter months when its northern quarries are
inactive.

Because the Company’s Barre quarries are closed from mid-
December through mid-March, in December each year the
Company provides special 90-day payment terms at these quarries
for all blocks purchased in the month of December. Customers’
manufacturing plants generally remain open during most of this
period, and most customers prefer to assure they own blocks of a
size and quality selected by them prior to the quarry closure. All
blocks purchased from the Company’s Barre quarries in December
on deferred payment terms are invoiced on or about December 31
and removed from the Company’s inventory with title passing to
the buyer.
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Payment terms are one-third of the invoice amount on January
15, one-third on February 15, and one-third on March 15. This
program provides essentially the normal 30-day payment terms
during the months when the Barre quarries are closed, notwith-
standing the customer’s purchase of a three-month supply in
December. Customers need not use these terms and may buy from
inventory during the closure period on a first-come first-served
basis with normal 30-day terms.

Research and Development

The Company does not have a research and development depart-
ment for any of its products. The Company regularly conducts
market research, as well as research on new product designs and
on equipment to improve the Company’s technology. These activ-
ities are not separately accounted for as research, and the
Company had no expenditures classified for financial reporting
purposes as research in 2000, 2001 or 2002.

Competition

The dimension stone industry is highly competitive. The
Company competes with other dimension stone quarriers, includ-
ing quarriers of granite, marble, limestone, travertine and other
natural stones. The Company also competes with manufacturers
of so-called “engineered stone” as well as manufacturers of other
building materials like concrete, aluminum, glass, wood and other
materials. The Company competes with providers of these materi-
als on the basis of price, availability of supply, end-user preference
for certain colors, patterns or textures, and other factors.

The granite memorial industry is also highly competitive. The
Company competes with other granite quarriers and manufactur-
ers in the sale of granite blocks on the basis of price, color, quality,
geographic proximity, service, design availability, production
capacity, availability of supply and delivery options. All of the
Company’s colors of granite are subject to competition from gran-
ite blocks of similar color supplied by quarriers located through-
out the world. There are approximately 140 manufacturers of
granite memorials in North America. There are also manufactur-
ers of granite memorials in India, South Africa, China and
Portugal that sell finished memorials in North America.

The Company’s quarrying and manufacturing competitors
include both domestic and international companies, some of
which may have greater financial, technical, manufacturing, mar-
keting and other resources than the Company. Foreign competi-
tors of the Company may have access to lower cost labor and bet-
ter commercial deposits of memorial grade granite, and may be
subject to less restrictive regulatory requirements than the
Company. For example, companies in South Africa, India, China
and Portugal manufacture and export finished granite memorials
into North America which compete with the Company’s products.

The competition for retail sales of granite memorials faced by
the Company’s retail outlets is also intense and is based on price,
quality, service, design availability and breadth of product line.

Competitors include funeral home and cemetery owners, includ-
ing consolidators, which have greater financial resources than the
Company, as well as approximately 3,000 independent retailers of
granite memorials located outside of cemeteries and funeral
homes.

The sale of cemetery lots and related products is highly com-
petitive. The competition is based upon price, geographic location,
and the overall aesthetics, maintenance and upkeep of the ceme-
tery. Competitors include churches and municipalities that own
and operate cemeteries, and other cemetery owners, including
consolidators, which may have greater financial resources than the
Company.

Patents, Trademarks and Licenses

The Company holds a number of domestic and foreign patents,
trademarks and copyrights, including the original registered
trademark “Rock of Ages” which the Company first registered in
1913. The Company believes the loss of a single patent, trademark
or copyright, other than the “Rock of Ages” trademark, would not
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition or results of operations. See “Risk Factors.”

Employees

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had approximately 860
employees.

The Company’s collective bargaining agreements with the
Granite Cutters Association and the United Steelworkers of
America, respectively, which together represent approximately 178
of the Company’s employees, expire on April 25, 2003. The
Company is in the process of renegotiating the collective bargain-
ing agreement.

The Company believes its relations with its employees are gen-
erally good.

Seasonality

Historically, the Company’s operations have experienced certain
seasonal patterns. Generally, the Company’s net sales are highest in
the second or third quarter and lowest in the first quarter of each
year due primarily to weather. See “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations-
Seasonality”

Regulation and
Environmental Compliance

The Company’s quarry and manufacturing operations are subject
to substantial regulation by federal and state governmental statutes
and agencies, including OSHA, the Mine Safety and Health
Administration and similar state and Canadian authorities. The
Company’s operations are also subject to extensive laws, and regu-
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lations administered by the EPA and similar state and Canadian
authorities for the protection of the environment, including those
relating to air and water quality, and solid and hazardous waste
handling and disposal. These laws and regulations may require the
Company to fund remedial action or to pay damages regardless of
fault. Environmental laws and regulations may also impose liabil-
ity with respect to divested or terminated operations even if the
operations were divested or terminated many years ago. In addi-

tion, current and future environmental or occupational health
and safety laws, regulations or regulatory interpretations may
require significant expenditures for compliance which could
require the Company to modify its operations. The Company can-
not predict the effect of such laws, regulations or regulatory inter-
pretations on its business, financial condition or results of opera-
tions. The Company expects to be able to continue to comply, in
all material respects, with existing laws and regulations.

Properties
The Company owns the following quarry and manufacturing properties:
Property Function
VERMONT
Barre Quarry Properties
E.L.SmithQuarry ................ Quarrying of dimensional Barre Gray granite blocks
Adam-Pirie Quarry ............... Quarrying of dimensional Barre Gray granite blocks
Manufacturing Properties
Rock of Ages
ManufacturingPlan .............. Manufacturing of memorials
Press Roll Production
Plant ... Manufacturing of granite press rolls
Rock of Ages Saw
Plant#l ...t Slabbing of granite blocks
Bethel Quarry Properties
Bethel Quarry.................... Quarrying of dimensional Bethel White granite blocks
CANADA
Stanstead, Quebec Quarry Properties
Stanstead Quarry ................. Quarrying of dimensional Stanstead Gray granite blocks

Quarry Properties
Laurentian Quarry ................
Manufacturing Properties
Rock of Ages
Manufacturing Plant .............
Adru Manufacturing Plant

Guenette, Quebec

Beebe Plain, Quebec

PENNSYLVANIA
St. Peters Quarry Properties
American Black Quarry ..............
Manufacturing Properties
SawPlant .............. . ...
NORTH CAROLINA
Salisbury Quarry Properties
Salisbury Pink Quarry .............
Rockwell Quarry Properties
Gardenia White Quarry ............
OKLAHOMA
Mill Creek Quarry Properties
Autumn Rose Quarry .............
SOUTH CAROLINA
Kershaw County Quarry Properties
Kershaw Quarry ..................
Lancaster County Quarry Properties
Coral Gray Quarry ................

Quarrying of dimensional Laurentian Rose granite blocks

Manufacturing of memorials
Manufacturing of memorials

Quarrying of dimensional American Black granite blocks

Slabbing of granite blocks

Quarrying of dimensional Salisbury Pink granite blocks

Quarrying of dimensional Gardenia White granite blocks

Quarrying of dimensional Autumn Rose granite blocks

Quarrying of dimensional Kershaw granite blocks

Quarrying of dimensional Coral Gray granite blocks




In addition, the Company owns or operates 99 retail sales outlets
and four associated sand blasting facilities in the states of Georgia,
Towa, Illinois, Minnesota, Connecticut, Massachusetts, Rhode
Island, Nebraska, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Ohio, South Dakota,
Kentucky, West Virginia and Wisconsin. In certain cases, the
Company leases, under customary lease arrangements, the land or
other real estate associated with these outlets and facilities. The
Company also owns 13 cemeteries in Kentucky. The Company
believes that these facilities are suitable and adequate for its present
and anticipated near-term needs.

The following table sets forth certain information relating to
the Company’s quarry properties. Each of the quarries listed below:
(i) is an open-pit quarry; (ii) contains granite that is suitable for
extraction as dimension granite for memorial or other use; (iii) is

serviced by electricity provided by local utility companies (other
than the Bethel quarry which is serviced by internal generators);
and (iv) has adequate and modern extraction and other equip-
ment. The Company presently has no exploration plans. Each of
the quarries listed below is owned by the Company (other than
Kershaw Quarry, which is leased with 37 years remaining on the
lease). As described in Item 1, the Company owns a one-third inter-
est in VIKA Ltd., which owns the Galactic Blue quarry in Zhytomir,
Ukraine. However, the Company does not directly or indirectly
operate the quarry. The Galactic Blue quarry does not currently
produce granite in commercial quantities and the Company does
not expect the quarry to achieve commercial production quantities in
2003. Accordingly, the Company does not consider this property to be
currently significant or material to its business.

Thomas E. Ebans, St.
David S. Hooker
William L. Comolli (1998)

Approximate Net saleable Saleable
date of Means Total recoverable recoverable
commencement Prior owner of original cost reserves (1) reserves
Quarry of operations (Date acquired) access of each property (cubic feet) (years) (2)
E.L. Smith 1880 EL.Smith Quarry Co. (1948)  Pavedroad $ 7,562,676 2,459,534,000 4,917
Adam-Pirie 1880 J.K. Pirie Quarry (1955) Pavedroad § 4,211,363 984,886,000 6,558
Bethel 1900 Woodbury Granite Company,  Dirt road $ 174,024 76,529,000 381
Inc. (1957)
Stanstead 1920 Brodies Limited and Stanstead Paved road  $ 505,453 32,563,000 215
Granite Company (1960)
Laurentian Pink 1944 Brodies Limited (1960) Paved road $ 860,115 3,864,000 51
American Black 1973 Pennsylvania Granite Inc. (1997) Paved road ~ $ 2,900,000 14,615,000 96
Salisbury 1918 Pennsylvania Granite Inc. (1997) Paved road  $ 3,886,592 19,344,000 85
Autumn Rose 1969 Autumn Rose Quarry Inc. (1997)Paved road  § 200,000 708,000 20
- Kershaw 1955 Pennsylvania Granite Inc. (1997) Paved road ~ $ 200,000 591,000 21
Coral Gray 1955 Pennsylvania Granite Inc. (1997) Paved road ~ $ 200,000 No estimate No estimate
Gardenia White 1995 J. Greg Faith Dirt road $ 4,633,000 2,602,000 36

(1) Net saleable reserves are based on internal Company estimates, except for the reserves for the E.L. Smith, Adam-Pirie and Bethel quarries, which are based on inde-
pendent assessments by CA Rich Consultants, Inc. and for the Gardenia White quarry, which are based on an independent assessment by Geomapping Associates.

(2) Based on internal Company estimates using current production levels.




22

The estimates of saleable reserves of the Company are based on
historical quarry operations, workable reserves in the existing
quarries and immediately adjacent areas, current work force sizes
and current demand. While quarry operations decrease the gran-
ite deposits, the size of the granite deposits in which the
Company’s quarries are located are large and extend well beyond
existing working quarry perimeters. The Company has historical-
ly expanded quarry perimeters or opened other quarries in the
deposit as necessary to utilize reserves and the Company believes it
has adequate acreage for expansions as and when necessary. The
Company has no reason to believe that it will deplete its granite
reserves more quickly than is shown in the table,

Dimension granite is not considered a valuable mineral or

~commodity such as gold, nor is it traded on any commodities

exchange. The prices charged by the Company to third parties for
granite blocks depend on the characteristics such as color of and
costs to quarry each granite block. The price per cubic foot cur-
rently charged by the Company for its granite blocks is generally
comparable to other granite suppliers and typically does not
exceed $30.
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The Company is a party to legal proceedings that arise from time
to time in the ordinary course of its business. While the outcome
of these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, manage-
ment does not expect these matters to have a material adverse
effect on the Company. In addition, the Company is involved in
the arbitration proceeding described below.

Granite Stone Business International Sarl (f/k/a Eurimex SA)
(Luxembourg) vs Rock of Ages Corporation (USA) ICC
Arbitration 11502/KGA/MS. On April 18, 2001, the Company
received a Request for Arbitration (“Request”) from its former dis-
tributor outside the United States, Eurimex, S. A. (now known as
Granite Stone Business International), in connection with the ter-
mination by the Company of the distribution agreement for the
Company’s Salisbury Pink granite. Eurimex has also claimed
damages in connection with a distribution agreement for the
Company’s Bethel White granite, which agreement expired by its
terms in 1998. Pursuant to those agreements, the arbitration will
take place under the International Chamber of Commerce rules
and is to be held in Luxembourg.

The Request includes claims by Eurimex that the Company
wrongfully terminated the Salisbury Pink and Bethel White agree-
ments. The Request also alleges that the Company violated
antitrust laws under the European Community Treaty and United
States antitrust laws. In the Request, Eurimex has alleged that it has
suffered damages in excess of $30 million, and that it would seek

to have damages trebled under U.S. antitrust laws. In subsequent
pre-hearing submissions, however, Eurimex asserted damages of
approximately $25.3 million, plus interest, “moral” damages, attor-
neys’ fees and costs.

The Company denies all of Eurimex’s allegations and further |

states that it believes that Eurimex has engaged in improper or
unlawful tying practices in the sale of the Company’s products.
The Company has answered Eurimex’s Request and has brought
certain counterclaims against Eurimey, including a claim for friv-
olous action. A preliminary scheduling conference was held on
October 2, 2001, and both arbitral and subject matter jurisdiction-
al issues were briefed. A second hearing on further procedural
issues and jurisdiction was held on March 13, 2002. On July 1,
2002, the arbitral tribunal rendered a decision on the arbitral juris-
dictional issues and found that it has arbitral jurisdiction over all
of the claims brought by Eurimex. The tribunal deferred ruling on
whether it has subject matter jurisdiction over the claimant’s U.S.
antitrust law claims. Having completed the discovery process, the
parties now are in the process of briefing their respective positions.
On March 11, 2003, after the Company filed its First Pre-Hearing
Submission, Eurimex withdrew all of its U.S. antitrust law claims.
A hearing on the merits of the dispute is scheduled to be held in
May 2003.

The Company denies liability and will continue to vigorously
defend the claims made by Eurimex. However, if the arbitral tri-
bunal were to decide in favor of Eurimex, and award substantial
damages, the Company’s business and financial condition would
likely be materially adversely affected.

The Company carries insurance with coverages that it believes
to be customary in its industry. Although there can be no assur-
ance that such insurance will be sufficient to protect the Company
against all contingencies, management believes that its insurance
protection is reasonable in view of the nature and scope of the
Company’s operations.

P ™ q = NS o * y
Submission of Matters to
T Tl A s
of “Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s security
holders, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise, during
the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.




Market for the Registranis Common
Equaty ma Related Stockholder Matters

The Class A Common Stock is traded on the Nasdaq® National
Market under the symbol “ROAC.” There is currently no estab-
lished public trading market for the Class B Common Stock.
However, the Class B Common Stock is convertible at any time
into shares of Class A Common Stock. The Class A Common
Stock commenced public trading on October 21, 1997. The table
below sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices for the
Class A Common Stock for each full quarterly period during fiscal
years 2001 and 2002, compiled from information supplied by
Nasdaq®. All prices represent inter dealer quotations without retail
markups, markdowns or commissions, and may not necessarily
represent actual transactions.

2001
HIGH LOW
First Quarter .................. 5.95 4,57
Second Quarter ................ 5.29 5.14
Third Quarter ................. 6.10 5.86
Fourth Quarter ................ 5.39 5.24
2002
HIGH LOW
First Quarter .................. 6.16 5,94
Second Quarter ................ 6.94 6.82
Third Quarter ................. 5.09 4.76
Fourth Quarter ................ 5.19 4.96

As of March 21, 2003, based upon information provided by the
Company's transfer agent, there were 260 record holders of Class
A Common Stock and 26 record holders of Class B Common
Stock, which numbers do not include stockholders who benefi-
cially own shares held in street name by brokers.

Holders of the Common Stock are entitled to receive such div-
idends as may be legally declared by the board of directors and, in
the event of dissolution and liquidation, to receive the net assets of
Rock of Ages remaining after payment of all liabilities, in propor-
tion to their respective holdings. The Company did not declare
dividends during 2001 or 2002.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

The Company made no sales of unregistered securities during
fiscal 2002.
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The selected consolidated historical financial data presented below
under the captions “Statement of Operations Data” and “Balance
Sheet Data” for and as of the end of each of the years in the five-
year period ended December 31, 2002 are derived from the con-
solidated financial statements of the Company, which financial
statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent certi-
fied public accountants (“KPMG”). The following selected consol-
idated financial data should be read in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations,” and the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company, including the notes thereto.
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Year ended December 31

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
(U.S. § in thousands, except per share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Net revenues:

Quarrying ... $ 19,225 $ 22,181 $22,887 $25,775 $29,735

Manufacturing ...l 44,924 37,414 27,184 22,228 19,726

Retailing ........oovviiiiiiiiat 18,597 36,933 40,622 43,159 38,449

Cemeteries . . vvvvie it — — — 3,143 4,604

Total netrevenues ................. 82,746 96,528 90,693 94,305 92,514

Gross Profit:

Quarrying ... 8,780 9,974 9,871 11,347 12,984

Manufacturing ...................... 10,842 7,791 6,801 5,422 5,521

Retailing ..ot 10,799 19,579 22,389 25,461 21,314

Cemeteries . . ...ovvve v, — — — 818 2,009

Total gross profit .................. 30,421 37,344 39,061 43,048 41,828

Selling, general and administrative expenses .. 20,371 31,241 33,164 36,707 35,868
Loss on disposal of assets ................. — 845 — 2,534 —
Income from operations .................. 10,050 5,258 5,897 3,807 5,960
Interest eXpense ..........vvveveiniennn, 511 2,034 2,143 1,758 738
Income before provision for income taxes . . . . 9,539 3,224 3,754 2,049 5,222
Provision for income taxes ................ 2,303 1,395 1,291 1,616 1,427
Net income before cumulative effect

of changes in accounting principles . .. .. $ 7,236 $ 1,829 $ 2,463 $ 433 $ 3,795
Cumulative effect in prior years of changes

in accounting principles . .............. — (150) — — (28,710)
Netincome ...oovvvrviniirviennnannns 7,236 1,679 2,463 433 (24,915)
Net income per share — basic:
Net income before cumulative effect of changes

in accounting principles ............... $0.98 $ 024 $ 033 $ 006 $ 048
Cumulative effect in prior years of changes

in accounting principles . .............. — (0.02) — — (3.65)

Net income pershare ................. 0.98 0.22 0.33 0.06 (3.17)
Net income per share — diluted:
Net income before cumulative effect of changes

in accounting principles ............... $ 091 $ 023 $ 033 $ 0.06 $ 0.48
Cumulative effect in prior years of changes

in accounting principles . ....... ... ... — (0.02) — — (3.64)
Net income per share .................... 0.91 0.21 0.33 0.06 (3.16)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 7,349 7,509 7,447 7,606 7,848
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 7,984 7,826 7,576 7,676 7,880

assuming dilution

As of December 31
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Cash and cash equivalents ................ $ 4701 $ 4,877 $ 9,501 § 3,435 $ 6,185
Working capital .......... ... 26,520 18,386 28,875 16,794 31,508
Total assets ........coviiiiiennnnn, 121,893 130,669 135,554 153,793 125,834
Long-term debt, net of current maturities . . . 12,880 12,620 18,527 323 12,832
Stockholders’ equity ...l 85,837 86,382 88,720 89,670 62,646




Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

General

Rock of Ages is an integrated quarrier, manufacturer, distributor
and retailer of granite and products manufactured from granite.
The Company also owns and operates cemeteries. The quarry
division sells granite blocks both to the manufacturing division
and to outside manufacturers, as well as to customers worldwide.
The manufacturing division’s principal product is granite memo-
rials used primarily in cemeteries, although it also manufactures
some specialized granite products for industrial applications. The
retail division primarily sells granite memorials directly to con-
sumers. The cemetery division sells cemetery property and funer-
al and cemetery products and services both at the time of need and
on a pre-need basis.

During the year ended December 31, 1998, the Company
acquired 13 retail monument companies, thereby expanding its
retai] presence to locations in Georgla, lowa, Illinois, Minnesota,
Nebraska, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Ohio and South Dakota.
During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company acquired
an additional 13 retail monument companies and in so doing
strengthened its existing retail presence in certain states while
expanding its retail presence in Connecticut, Rhode Island,
Massachusetts and Wisconsin. In 2000, the Company acquired two
memorial retailers in two separate and independent transactions,
thereby acquiring three retail sales outlets in the states of
Connecticut and Iowa. The Company also acquired 16 cemetery
properties and one memorial retailer located in the state of
Kentucky as of January 2, 2001. The Company paid a total aggre-
gate purchase price in the 2000 Acquisitions of approximately
$655,000, all of which was paid in cash; and approximately $7.5
million for the Kentucky cemeteries and retailer acquired in
January 2001, $6.8 million of which was paid in cash with the
remainder payable in installments through 2004.

During the second quarter of 2001 the Company sold an idled
Saw Plant in Barre, Vermont in which cash of $300,505 was
received in exchange for assets with the carrying value of $515,433.

During the third quarter of 2001 the Company completed the
sale of SMI and Childs & Childs manufacturing plants and the
Royalty and Millstone quarries in Elberton, Georgia in which total
cash of $3,250,000 net of closing costs of $287,467 was received
and notes receivable were recorded for a total of $1,640,000 in
exchange for assets with the carrying value of $6,121,693.

During the third quarter of 2002, the Company completed the
sale of the Lawson manufacturing plant in Barre, Vermont for
$2,550,000 of which $2,300,000 in cash and $250,000 in a note
receivable was received in exchange for $3,346,219 of assets. This
sale is consistent with the Company’s desire to dispose of certain
unprofitable operations and to reallocate resources from the man-
ufacture of commodity memorials and focus on its retail strategy.

The loss on sale of assets reported for the year ending
December 31, 2001, includes a non-tax deductible disposal of
intangible assets of approximately $3.7 million. Taxable income
resulted from the sale of the inventory and property and equip-
ment, the impact of which was recorded in the three month ended
September 30, 2001. The sale of these assets is not expected to have
any material effect on income taxes in future periods.

Critical Accounting Policies
Qur critical accounting policies are as follows: Revenue recogni-

tion, impairment of long-lived assets, valuation of deferred
income taxes and accounting for pensions.

Revenue Recognition

The manufacturing division recognizes revenue upon shipment of
finished orders from the manufacturing plant. The retailing divi-
sion recognizes revenue upon the setting of the memorial in the
cemetery. In certain instances, the Company may enter into an
agreement with a customer, which provides for extended payment
terms, generally up to two years from either the date of setting of
the memorial or, in certain instances, upon the settlement of an
estate.

The quarry division recognizes revenue from sales of granite
blocks when the granite is shipped or when the customer selects
and identifies the blocks at the quarry site and the customer
requests the Company to store the block. At that time, the block is
removed from the Company’s inventory, the customer’s name is
printed on the block, and title and risk of ownership passes to the
buyer. In many cases, granite blocks owned by customers remain
on the Company’s property for varying periods of time after title
passes to the buyer. Payment terms are less 5% 30 days, net 30
days, except the December terms described below. Sales of the
Company’s blocks are FOB quarry and the Company retains the
obligation to load customer’s blocks on trucks. At its Barre,
Vermont location, sales are FOB Barre, Vermont and the Company
retains a delivery obligation using the Company’s trucks for block
customers in Barre. The customer may take delivery at any time
determined by the customer, but all invoices must be paid in
accordance with their terms when due whether or not the cus-
tomer requests delivery.

The Company considers the earnings process substantially
complete despite the Company’s obligations to load the blocks,
and, in the case of its Barre customers, deliver the blocks, because
the cost of delivery service is inconsequential (less than 3%) in
relation to the selling price. Further, under industry terms of
trade, title passes and the payment obligation is established when
the block is identified to a particular customer and transaction.
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In December each vear, the Company provides special 90-day
payment terms at its Barre quarries for all block purchased in the
month of December. The reason for this is that the Barre quarries
are generally closed from mid-December through mid-March
because of weather. However, the quarry customers’ manufactur-
ing plants remain open during most of this period, and most pre-
fer to assure they own blocks of a size and quality selected by them
prior to the quarries’ closure. All blocks purchased in December
on deferred payment terms are invoiced on or about December 31
and removed from the Company’s inventory with title passing to
the buyer. Payment terms are one-third of the invoice amount on
January 15, one-third on February 15, and one-third on March 15.
The program provides essentially the normal 30-day payment
terms during the months when the quarry is closed notwithstand-
ing the customer’s purchase of a three months supply in
December. Customers need not use these terms and may buy
from inventory during the closure period on a first-come, first-
served basis with normal 30-day terms.

The cemetery division’s revenue from pre-need sales of funer-
al services, and cemetery services and merchandise is deferred
until the period in which the services or merchandise is delivered.
On the balance sheet the full contract amount is included in pre-
arranged deferred revenue, a liability. The corresponding receiv-
able due from the customer is reflected in prearranged receivables,
an asset, and the corresponding cash received from the customer
is reflected part in prearranged receivables (for the portion placed
in trust) and part in cash (for the portion the Company is allowed
to retain). Indirect costs of marketing are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. When the service or merchandise is
delivered, the Company recognizes as revenue the full contract
amount plus all trust earnings associated with that contract. The
Company cannot predict when the existing contracts will mature
but it is estimated that most contracts will have an average life of
ten to fifteen years and in some cases greater than fifteen years. The
amount of prearranged deferred revenue at December 31, 2002
was $21,845,430.

Impairment of long-lived asset
The Company’s long-lived assets consist primarily of property and
equipment and, prior to 2002, goodwill. Long-lived assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amount of such an asset may not
be recoverable. Such events or circumstances include, but are not
limited to, a significant decrease in the fair value of the underlying
business or change in utilization of property and equipment.
Recoverability of property and equipment is measured by
comparison of the carrying amount to estimated future undis-
counted net cash flows the assets are expected to generate. Those

cash flows include an estimated terminal value based on a hypo-
thetical sale at the end of its depreciation period. Estimating these
cash flows and terminal values requires management to make
judgments about the growth in demand for our services, sustain-
ability of gross margins, our ability to integrate acquired compa-
nies and achieve economies of scale. If assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the
amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset
exceeds its fair value.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company assessed impairment
of goodwill in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142.
The provisions of SFAS No. 142 require that a two-step test be per-
formed. First, the fair value of each reporting unit will be com-
pared to its carrying value. If the fair value exceeds the carrying
value, goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is per-
formed. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, then the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill must be deter-
mined and compared to the carrying value of the goodwill. If the
carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied
fair value, then an impairment loss equal to the difference will be
recorded. The Company determined the fair value of each of the
reporting units using a discounted cash flow analysis and com-
pared such values to the respective reporting units carrying
amounts. This evaluation indicated that goodwill recorded in the
Retail and Cemetery segments was impaired as of January 1, 2002.
As a result, the Company completed the second step of the good-
will impairment test to measure the amount of the impairment
loss.  Accordingly, the Company recognized a $34 million non-
cash charge, recorded as of January 1, 2002, as the cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle for the write-down of
goodwill to its fair value. Approximately $19 million of the good-
will write-down 1s deductible for taxes, therefore a deferred tax
asset of $5.3 million has been recorded.

Conditions that contributed to the goodwill impairment in
Retail were an underestimation of the amount of time required to
fully integrate the branding strategy through the retail network
and the difficulty in increasing profitability in the timeframe
expected and to the extent anticipated prior to the retail acquisi-
tions. Conditions that contributed to the goodwill impairment in
Cemeteries were lower than expected revenues and greater selling
and administrative costs, which the Company believes are, to some
extent, temporary but are significant enough to affect the fair
value determination.

Valuation of deferred income taxes

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had net deferred tax assets
of $7,109,000. In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets,




management considers whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependant upon
the generation of future taxable income during the periods in

which those temporary differences become deductible.
Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax lia-
bilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strate-
gies in making this assessment. Management has recorded a valu-
ation allowance of $4,638,000 against the alternative minimum tax
credit carry-forwards and other deferred tax assets. Based upon
the projections for future taxable income over the periods for
which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes
that it is more likely than not that the company will realize the
benefit of these unreserved net deferred tax assets. The amount of
the deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be
reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income are
reduced.

Accounting for pensions

The Company provides defined benefit pension and other post-
retirement benefit plans for certain of its employees. Accounting
for these plans requires the use of actuarial assumptions including
estimates on the expected long-term rate of return on assets and
discount rates. In order to make informed assumptions manage-
ment relies on outside actuarial experts as well as public market
data and general economic information. If changes in any of these
assumptions occur, they may materially affect certain amounts
reported on the Company’s balance sheet. In particular, a decrease
in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets could result
in an increase in the Company’s pension liability and a charge to
equity.

The following table sets forth certain historical statement of
operations data as a percentage of net revenues with the exception
of quarrying, manufacturing and retailing gross profit, which are
shown as a percentage of quarrying, manufacturing and retailing
revenues respectively.

STATEMENT OF
OPERATIONS DATA:

Net Revenues:

Quarrying ........
Manufacturing .. ..
Retailing .........
Cemeteries . ......

Total net revenues

GROSS PROFIT
Quarrying ........
Manufacturing . ...
Retailing .........
Cemeteries .......

Total gross profit

Selling, general and
administrative expenses

Loss on disposal of assets
Income from operations
Interest expense ......

Income before provision
for income taxes .. ...

Provision for income taxes

Net income before
cumulative effect of
changes in accounting
principles . ..........

Cumulative effect in prior
years of changes in
accounting principles .

Net income (loss) ... ..

Year Ended December 31,

2000 2001 2002
25.2% 27.3% 32.1%
30.0% 23.6% 21.3%
44.8% 45.8% 41.6%
— 3.3% 5.0%
100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
43,1% 44.0% 43.7%
25.0% 24.4% 28.0%
55.1% 59.0% 55.4%
— 26.0% 43.6%
43.1% 45.6% 45.2%
36.6% 39.0% 38.8%
— 2.7% —
6.5% 3.9% 6.4%
2.4% 1.9% 0.8%
4.1% 2.0% 5.6%
1.4% 1.7% 1.5%
2.7% 0.5% 4.1%
— — (31.0%)
2.7% 0.5% (26.9%)
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Revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 decreased
2.0% to $92.5 million from $94.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. Quarrying revenues were $29.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2002 compared to $25.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. The increase was largely due to
strong customer demand for Bethel White, Gardenia White and
Salisbury Pink granites as well as increased revenues from the
Pennsylvania Black quarry as a result of increased production and
improved quarry yields.

Manufacturing revenues were $19.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 compared to $22.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The decrease was a result of the sale of Childs
in 2001, a decrease in the number of independent authorized
retailers, and a decrease in sales in our Industrial Products
Division as a result of decreased demand for those products due to
the current general economic slowdown. These decreases were
partially offset by revenue recognized on a large memorial for
World War II, increased shipments of mausoleums and other fea-
ture memorials. While the company expects a decrease in revenue
as a result of the loss in customer base associated with the sale of
Lawson in January 2002, it expects that this decrease will be par-
tially offset by an increase in revenues and percent of branded sales
from its remaining customer base.

Retailing revenues were $38.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 compared to $43.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. Over the past three years, the Company’s
retail order receipts have averaged approximately $40 million per
year. In 2001, the Company decreased its backlog of orders by
approximately $3.0 million resulting in revenues in excess of the
average annual order receipts. The decrease in revenue in 2002 is a
result of insufficient order receipts from the Company’s retail out-
lets that would have been required to maintain the prior year’s
level due in part to the closure of certain unprofitable stores in the
latter part of 2001 and in 2002.

Cemetery revenues were $4.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 compared to $3.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The increase results principally from the
recognition of approximately $800,000 in revenue in 2002 from
the completion of a large project that was pre-sold as well as
increased sales of lots and at-need markers, which we believe
resulted from increased sales staff. The completion and subsequent
recognition of revenue on projects that are pre-sold is common in
the industry but not expected to be a consistent part of our rev-
enues in future periods.

Gross profit dollars for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002
decreased 3.0% to $41.8 million from $43.0 million for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2001. Gross profit percentage decreased
to 45.2% in fiscal 2002 from 45.6% in fiscal 2001.

Quarrying gross profit was $13.0 million or 43.7% of quarry-
ing revenue for the vear ended December 31, 2002 compared to

$11.3 million or 44.0% of quarrying revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2001. During 2002, the Company elected to change
the method of valuing inventory in the quarry division from a
First-In, First-Out method to a Specific Annual Average Cost
method. The effect of the change in 2002 was to decrease operat-
ing income by $789,447. The Company believes the Specific
Annual Average Cost method more accurately matches costs with
revenue, resulting in an enhanced measurement of operating
results. (See note 3 of the financial statements.) The increase in
gross profit dollars was attributable to an increase in revenue, an
increase in yields at the Bethel White, Pennsylvania Black, and
Gardenia White quarries as well as a decrease in the amount of
profit transferred to the manufacturing division as a result of
lower sales to that division. The slight decrease in gross margin
percentage was a result of decreased quarry yields and higher
repair and maintenance costs in the Barre Gray quarry, which was
almost entirely offset by an increase in gross margin percentage at
the Pennsylvania Black and Gardenia White quarries.

Manufacturing gross profit was $5.5 million or 28.0% of man-
ufacturing revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002 com-
pared to $5.4 million or 24.0% of manufacturing revenue for the
year ended December 31,2001. The increase in gross margin per-
centage is a result of improved operations in our Barre manufac-
turing facility as well as a more favorable product mix in this facil-
ity compared to the same period in 2001. The sale of Lawson,
which was completed in January 2002, also had a positive effect on
gross margins due to the elimination of traditionally low margin
customers and a strong focus on the Company’s core authorized
dealer network resulting in increased branded sales, which have
historically had higher gross margins than branded sales. In con-
nection with the Lawson sale, the Company entered into a seven-
year contract to purchase memorials from the new owner.
Although there are many alternative suppliers of granite memori-
als, the Company is dependent on this arrangement to provide
product to its customers and believes it will continue to be favor-
able for the Company.

Retailing gross profit was $21.3 million or 55.4% of retailing
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to $25.5
million or 59.0% of retailing revenue for the year ended December
31, 2001. This decrease in dollars and percentage was attributable
to the lower revenues in 2002 and an associated decrease in oper-
ational efficiencies.

Cemetery gross profit was $2.0 million or 43.6% of cemetery
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to
$818,000 or 26.0% of cemetery revenue for the year ended -
December 31, 2001. The increase in gross margin percentage is a
result of improved operations as the Company continues to imple-
ment strategies to achieve a stronger sales force and cut or main-
tain costs in the groundskeeping and maintenance operations. In
addition, the company recognized approximately $400,000 in
gross margin from the completion of a large project that was pre-
sold as discussed above.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for 2002 decreased
2.3% to $35.9 million from $36.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. As a percentage of net sales, these expenses for




2002 decreased slightly to 38.8% from 39.0%. This decrease is a
result of lower commission expense in the retail segment as well as
a decrease in SG&A in the Company’s manufacturing group due
principally to the sale of the Lawson plant. These decreases were
offset by increased legal expenses in the quarry segment as a result
of the Eurimex arbitration proceeding (see Item 3 “Legal
Proceedings”) and an increase in corporate administrative expens-
es related, in part, to a one-time severance payment to a former
Company officer.

Interest expense for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002
decreased to $738,000 from $1.8 million for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001. This decrease was due to lower interest rates
under the Company’s credit facilities as well as a reduction in debt
funded by cash from operations and from the proceeds of the sale
of SMI, Childs, the Royalty Quarries (“Royalty”) and Lawson.

Income taxes as a percentage of earnings before taxes decreased
to 27.3% in 2002 from 78.9% in 2001, The high rate in 2001 was
the result of the disposition of the quarrying and manufacturing
assets for which the write-down of goodwill was non-deductible
for tax purposes. The 2002 tax rate is consistent with the compa-
ny’s historical rate.

The cumulative effect in prior years of changes in accounting
principles for the year ended December 31, 2002 was a loss of
$28.7 million compared to $0 for 2001. The loss consisted prima-
rily of a write-down of $28.4 million in goodwill (net of tax bene-
fit of $5.3 million) as a result of adopting SFAS 142 as well as a
change in accounting method for quarry inventory, which result-
ed in a $280,000 write-down of inventory (net of tax benefit of
$107,000). (See notes 2 and 3 of the financial statements for addi-
tional information.)

Year Ended December 31, 2001,
Compared to Year Ended
December 31, 2000

Revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 increased
4.0% to $94.3 million from $90.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. Quarrying revenues were $25.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to $22.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase was largely due to
strong customer demand for Bethel and Gardenia White granite
and increased revenues from the Salisbury quarry as a result of the
Company implementing its “direct to the customer” sales model.
Manufacturing revenues were $22.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared to $27.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. The decrease was due to poor shipments in
the first quarter of 2001 as a result of difficult weather conditions,
a decrease in the number of independent authorized dealers, and
a decrease in demand for the Company’s industrial products that
are sold to the high tech industry due to a general softening in that
business sector. The Company’s sale of Childs and SMI, which
were completed in 2001, and the sale of Lawson, which was com-

pleted in January 2002, were consistent with the Company’s desire
to focus on the manufacture of branded memorials for its author-
ized retail network and its owned retatl stores.

Retailing revenues were $43.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared to $40.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. The increase is a result of additional branded
sales at the retail locations and favorable seasonal factors in 2001
which allowed for those retailers affected by weather to have
greater cemetery settings in the fourth quarter of 2001 compared
to the same period in 2000.

Cemetery revenues were $3.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The Company acquired the cemeteries in
January 2001 and had no comparable data for 2000.

Gross profit dollars for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001
increased 10.2% to $43.0 million from $39.0 million for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2000. Consolidated gross profit percent-
age increased to 45.6% in fiscal 2001 from 43.1% in fiscal 2000.

Quarrying gross profit was $11.3 million or 44.0% of quarry-
ing revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to
$9.9 million or 43.1% of quarrying revenue for the year ended
December 31,2000. The increase was principally due to increased
operational efficiencies at the Bethel quarry and an increase in
reported revenue at the Salisbury quarry as a result of the compa-
ny terminating the distribution agreement with Eurimex. See [tem
3 “Legal Proceedings.” These increases were partially offset by a
decrease in gross profit at the Pennsylvania Black quarry due to
short-term higher than anticipated quarry development costs.

Manufacturing gross profit was $5.4 million or 24.0% of man-
ufacturing revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 com-
pared to $6.8 million or 25.0% of manufacturing revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2000. The decline in gross profit dollars
was primarily a result of the decreased revenues discussed above as
well as a decrease in profitability in the industrial products busi-
ness due to a general softening in the technology business sector.

Retailing gross profit was $25.5 million or 59.0% of retailing
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to $22.4
million or 55.1% of retailing revenue for the year ended December
31,2000. This increase was primarily attributable to an increase in
branded sales as a result of the Company’s strong emphasis on the
branding strategy.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for 2001 increased
10.6% to $36.7 million from $33.2 million for the fiscal year ended
December 31,2000. As a percentage of net sales, these expenses for
2001 increased to 39.0% from 36.6%. This increase is a result of
additional legal expenses in the quarry segment as a result of the
Eurimex arbitration proceedings and the higher selling expenses
associated with the cemetery segment that the company acquired
in January 2001,

Interest expense for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001
decreased to $1.8 million from $2.1 million for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2000. This decrease was due to lower interest
rates under the Company’s credit facilities as well as a reduction in
debt funded by cash from operations from and the proceeds of the
sale of SMI, Childs and Royalty.
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Income taxes as a percentage of earnings before taxes increased
to 78.9% in 2001 from 34.4% in 2000. This increase was a result of
the disposition of the quarrying and manufacturing assets for
which the write down of goodwill was non-deductible for tax pur-
poses.

I iouidity end Casiial Resous
Liquiasty ang Capital Resources

Liguidity

The Company considers its liquidity to be adequate to meet its
long- and short-term cash requirements to fund operations and
pursue its growth strategy. Historically the Company has met these
requirements primarily from cash generated by operating activi-
ties and periodic borrowings under the commercial credit facilities
described below. The Company anticipates that there may be
future acquisitions as it pursues its growth strategy that may
require external financing from our existing credit facility.

In January 2003, the Company repurchased 500,500 shares of
its common stock for a total of $2,602,600 as part of its share buy
back program. Upon completion of this transaction, the Company
has repurchased a total of 676,200 shares for $3,359,269 under the
share buy back program. There remains 323,800 shares authorized
to be purchased under the current repurchase program. The
Company will continue to repurchase shares on an opportunistic
basis determined by, among other things, current debt levels,
anticipated use of capital, the price of the stock and the general
market conditions.

As a result of the accumulated benefit obligations of the
Company’s pension benefit plan exceeding the fair market value of
the plans’ assets, the Company has recorded a $3.1 million mini-
mum liability, through a charge to equity during 2002 of $1.6 mil-
lion, net of taxes of $679,000. This charge is reflected as a reduc-
tion to other comprehensive income (loss). In addition, the
Company made a payment to fund the plan of $1.4 million in
2002, which was the maximum allowable deductible amount for
tax purposes. Based on current market conditions and the related
impact on the fair value of plan assets, additional funding of this
extent may be warranted in the future and the Company believes
it will be able to fund such contributions either from cash from
operations or borrowing under its credit facilities.

Cash Flow
At December 31, 2002, the Company had cash, cash equivalents
and marketable securities of approximately $6.2 million and
working capital of approximately $31.5 million, compared to
approximately $3.4 million and $16.8 million, respectively, at
December 31,2001 and $9.5 million and $28.9 million, respective-
ly, at December 31, 2000.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, net cash provid-
ed by operating activities was $6.9 million compared to $11.6 mil-
lion for the year ending December 31, 2001 and $4.7 million for

Amount
Revolving Credit Facility . ............. $4.4 million
TermLoans .............coooviint 12.5 million

the year ended December 31, 2000. Net income, adjusted for a total
of $32.2 million in non-cash items, including the cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle net of tax effects, was $7.3 mil-
lion for the year ending December 31, 2002. This compares to net
income, adjusted for a total of $7.9 million in non-cash items, of
$8.3 million in the corresponding period of 2001 and net income
adjusted for a total of $5.6 million in non-cash items, of $8.1 mil-
lion in 2000. Changes in working capital and other assets and lia-
bilities used cash of $406,000 in the year ending December 31,
2002 which was a result of a decrease in inventory, an increase in
accrued pension costs and a net difference of $1.0 million between
the decrease in deferred revenue as a result of completing cemetery
contracts and the cash received (represented by a decrease in pre-
arranged receivables). These changes were offset by, among other
things, an increase in receivables and an increase in intangible pen-
sion assets. In 2001, the changes in working capital and other
assets and liabilities provided cash of $3.2 million as a result of
increased payables as well as a decrease in receivables. In 2000,
working capital changes used cash of $3.4 million. Net cash used
in investing activities was $1.8 million in the year ending
December 31, 2002 as a result of capital purchases which was par-
tially offset by cash received from the sale of the Lawson facility,
compared to $7.6 million used in investing activities in the corre-
sponding period of 2001 as a result of the purchase of the ceme-
teries and other capital purchases partially offset by cash received
in the sale of Childs, SMI and Royalty. In 2000, cash used in invest-
ing activities was $2.8 million. Net cash used in financing activi-
ties in the year ending December 31, 2002 was $2.4 million, which
consisted primarily of principal payments on long-term debt
funded from operations compared to $9.6 million in the corre-
sponding period of 2001 which also consisted of principal pay-
ments on long-term debt as well as repayments of the Company’s
line of credit. In 2000, net cash provided by financing activities was
$2.9 million which consisted of $3.3 million repayment on credit
facilities which was offset by $6.5 million in new borrowings under
the credit facilities which was used in 2001 for the purchase of the
Cemeteries.

Capital Resources
The Company has a credit facility with the CIT Group/Business
Credit (“CIT”). The facility consists of an acquisition term loan
line of credit of up to $30.0 million and a revolving credit facility
of up to another $20.0 million based on eligible accounts receiv-
able, inventory and certain fixed assets. As of December 31, 2002,
the Company had $12.5 million outstanding and $17.5 million
available under the term loan line of credit and $4.4 million out-
standing and $ 15.6 million available under the revolving credit
facility.

The Company has a multi-tiered interest rate structure on its
outstanding debt with CIT. As of December 31, 2002, the interest
rate structure was as follows:

Formula Effective Rate
Prime - 0.50% 3.75%
LIBOR + 1.75% 317%




The Company can elect the interest rate structure under the cred-
it facility based on the prime rate or LIBOR for both the revolver
and the term loan. Under the credit facility, which was renewed in
2002, the interest rate structure was amended to reduce the incre-
mental rate by 25 basis points, which would currently place the
revolver at LIBOR plus 1.50%. The interest rate structure on the
revolver based on the prime rate remains unchanged at Prime less
.50%, and the interest rate structure on the Term Loan under

Contractual Obligations

either the Prime Rate or the LIBOR election is unchanged at
LIBOR plus 1.75% or Prime less .25%.

The incremental rate above or below prime and above LIBOR
is based on the Company’s Funded Debt to Net Worth Ratio and
the Company is currently at the most favorable increments available.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company also had $4.0 million
CDN available and $0 outstanding under a demand revolving line
of credit with the Royal Bank of Canada.

Contractual Cash Obligations Total Less Than | Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 Years
Long-Term Debt (1) $13,037,666 $ 205,311 $ 61,024 $12,520,334 $ 250,997
Operating Leases (2) 2,755,535 1,035,263 1,120,659 599,613 —
Purchase Obligations (3) 18,000,000 3,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000 3,000,000

Total Obligations $33,793,201 $4,240,574 $7,181,683 $19,119,947 $3,250,997

(1) Long-Term Debt consists of various notes payable {see note 6 of the financial statements) for general business use and strategic acquisitions, which will be funded

from a combination of cash flow from operations and its existing credit facilities.

(2) Operating Leases are principally for real estate {see note 4 of the financial statements) and will be funded from a combination of cash flow from operations and its

existing credit facilities.

(3) The purchase obligation is a supply agreement with Adams Granite Co. The Company has agreed to purchase a minimum of $3,000,000 of monuments from
Adams Granite each year for a term of seven years with various stipulations as to variations from the “minimum order” and pricing agreements (see note 4 of the
financial statements), and will be funded from a combination of cash flow from operations and its existing credit facilities.

The Company’s primary need for capital will be to maintain and
improve its manufacturing, quarrying, and retail facilities and to
finance acquisitions as part of its growth strategy. The Company
has approximately $5.0 million budgeted for capital expenditures
in 2003. The Company believes that the combination of cash flow
from operations, its existing credit facilities, and/or its new credit
facility will be sufficient to fund its operations for at least the next
twelve months.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
issued Statement No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No’s 4,
44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13 and Technical
Corrections,” effective for fiscal years beginning May 15, 2002 or
later. It rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses From
Extinguishments of Debt,” SFAS No. 64, “Extinguishments of Debt
to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements,” and SFAS No. 44,
“Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers.” This
Statement also amends SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases” to
eliminate an inconsistency between the required accounting for
sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain
lease modifications that have economic effects that are similar to

sale-leaseback transactions. This Statement also amends other
existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical

-corrections, clarify meanings or describe their applicability under

changed conditions. The Company does not believe the impact of
adopting SFAS No. 145 will have a material impact on its financial
statements.

In June 2002 the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for
Costs Associated With Exit or Disposal Activities” SFAS No. 146
requires companies to recognize costs associated with exit or dis-
posal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of
commitment to an exit or disposal plan. This statement is effective
for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31,2002. The
Company is assessing the impact adoption of SFAS No. 146 will
have on its financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No.
45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others” (“FIN 45”). FIN 45 requires that upon issuance of a guar-
antee, a guarantor must recognize a liability for the fair value of an
obligation assumed under a guarantee. FIN 45 also requires addi-
tional disclosures by a guarantor in its interim and annual finan-
cial statements about the obligations associated with guarantees
issued. The recognition provisions of FIN 45 will be effective for
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any guarantees that are issued or modified after December 31,
2002. The disclosure requirements will be effective for the
Company’s second quarter of fiscal 2003. Management does not
expect the adoption of FIN 45 to have a material impact on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure-an
Amendment of SFAS 123.” SFAS No. 148 provides additional tran-
sition guidance for those entities that elect to voluntarily adopt the
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.” Furthermore, SFAS No. 148 mandates new dis-
closures in both interim and year-end financial statements of the
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation
and the effect of the method used on reported results. The adop-
tion of SFAS No. 148 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial position or results of operation.

Seasonalit

Historically, the Company’s operations have experienced certain
seasonal patterns. Generally the Company’s net sales have been
highest in the second or third quarter and lowest in the first quar-
ter of each year due primarily to weather. Cemeteries in northern
areas generally do not accept granite memorials during winter
months when the ground is frozen because they cannot be prop-
erly set. In addition, the Company typically closes certain of its
Vermont and Canadian quarries during these months because of
increased operating costs attributable to adverse weather condi-
tions. As a result, the Company has historically incurred a net loss
during the first three months of each calendar year.

Quantitative ar nd Qua ﬂmﬁvo
DMl@sx res avout Market Risk

The Company has financial instruments that are subject to inter-
est rate risk, principally debt obligations under its credit facilities.
Historically, the Company has not experienced material gains or
losses due to interest rate changes. Based on the Company’s
current variable rate debt obligations, the Company believes its
exposure to interest rate risk is not material.

The Company is subject to foreign currency exchange rate risk
primarily from the operations of its Canadian subsidiary. Based on
the size of this subsidiary and the Company’s corresponding expo-
sure to changes in the Canadian/U.S. dollar exchange rate, the
Company does not consider its market exposure relating to
currency exchange to be material.

y s, 7
Changes Inn and Di mgmcm nEs Wit
Acmmm s on Accounting and
™ M T
Financial Disclosure

There are no disagreements between the Company and KPMG,
LLP on any matter of accounting principles and practices, finan-
cial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedures during
2002.




Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones that
we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us
or which are currently deemed immaterial may also impair our busi-
ness, financial condition and results of operations. If any of these risks
actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of opera-
tions could be materially adversely affected.

Our continued growth depends, at least in part, on acquisitions,
which involve numerous risks that could negatively affect our
earnings and financial condition.

Our ability to continue to grow depends in part upon the
acquisition of additional companies. We cannot assure you that we
will identify suitable acquisition candidates, or that we will be able
to consummate transactions on acceptable terms. Further, even if
we successfully acquire additional companies, we cannot assure
you that we will be able to successfully integrate the operations of
such companies with our own. We intend to finance acquisitions
through a combination of available cash resources, bank borrow-
ings, and, in appropriate circumstances, the issuance of equity
and/or debt securities. Acquiring additional companies will have a
significant effect on our financial position, and could cause sub-
stantial fluctuations in our quarterly and yearly operating results.
Also, acquisitions may result in the recording of significant good-
will and intangible assets on the Company’s financial statements,
the write-off of which would reduce reported earnings at the point
in time the goodwill is deemed impaired. With respect to retail
acquisitions, goodwill impairment could be incurred at the closing
of the acquisition.

Opening new stores is a component of our growth strategy
and entails uncertainties and risks that could adversely affect
our profitability.

Our ability to continue to grow our retail business will depend
in part upon our ability to open new retail stores in selected loca-
tions. Our success in opening new retail stores will depend on our
ability to identify suitable locations for opening new retail stores
on acceptable terms, our ability to attract and retain competent
management and sales personnel, and our ability to form strategic
alliances and relationships with local funeral homes, cemeteries
and other death care professionals, and our ability to attract cus-
tomers to our new stores. [t is unlikely that new retail stores that
we open will generate significant profits in the early stages, and
many new stores will lose money for the first few years of opera-
tion. Accordingly, opening new retail stores may adversely affect
our business or profitability.

If we are unable to maintain our relationships with independent
retailers, our sales may not continue to grow and could decline.

We have historically sold our granite memorials to consumers
through independent retailers. Over the past five years, we have
acquired 26 retailers with approximately 100 retail outlets in 15
states. However, we are still dependent in part on our independent
retailers for the successful distribution of our products to the ulti-
mate customer. We have no control over the independent retailers’
operations, including such matters as retail price, advertising and

marketing. Three important components of our growth strategy
are to continue to acquire retailers, open new retail stores in select-
ed markets and pursue strategic alliances with funeral homes,
cemetery owners, and other death care professionals. Although we
have taken steps to reduce conflicts between our owned retail
stores and our independent retailers, the implementation of these
elements of our strategy has in the past been, and may in the future
be construed by some of our existing independent retailers as an
effort to compete with them. These issues may continue to arise as
we pursue our growth strategy. In certain cases this has adversely
affected their relationship with us and caused them to decrease or
cease their purchases of our products. In addition, the granite
memorial retail industry is characterized by significant barriers to
entry created by local heritage, community presence and tradition.
Consequently, we have experienced, and may continue to experi-
ence difficulty replacing retailers or entering particular retail mar-
kets in the event of a loss of an independent retailer. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to maintain our existing relation-
ships or establish new relationships with independent retailers.
Disruption in our relationships with independent retailers could
impede our sales growth or cause sales to decline, which would
adversely affect our business and financial results.

If we lose our key personnel, or are unable to attract and retain
additional qualified personnel, our business could suffer.

Our operations and the implementation of our operating and
growth strategies, such as integration of acquisitions and the
opening of new retail stores, are management intensive. We are
substantially dependent upon the abilities and continued efforts of
Kurt M. Swenson, our Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer, and other senior management. Our business is also
dependent on our ability to continue to attract and retain a high-
ly skilled retail, quarrying and manufacturing workforce, includ-
ing sales managers and counselors, stone cutters, sand blasters,
sculptors and other skilled artisans. The loss of the services of Mr.
Swenson, other members of the Company’s senior management or
other highly skilled personnel could adversely affect our business
and operating results.

We face intense competition and, if we are unable to compete suc-
cessfully, we may be unable to increase our sales, which would
adversely affect our business and profitability.

The dimension stone industry is highly competitive. The
Company competes with other dimension stone quarriers, includ-
ing quarriers of granite, marble, limestone, travertine and other
natural stones. The Company also competes with manufacturers
of so-called “engineered stone” as well as manufacturers of other
building materials like concrete, aluminum, glass, wood and other
materials. The Company competes with providers of these materi-
als on the basis of price, availability of supply, end-user preference
for certain colors, patterns or textures, and other factors.

The granite memorial industry is also highly competitive. The
Company competes with other granite quarriers and manufactur-
ers in the sale of granite blocks on the basis of price, color, quality,
geographic proximity, service, design availability, production

33



34

capacity, availability of supply and delivery options. All of the
Company’s colors of granite are subject to competition from gran-
ite blocks of similar color supplied by quarriers located through-
out the world. There are approximately 140 manufacturers of
granite memorials in North America. There are also manufactur-
ers of granite memorials in India, South Africa, China and
Portugal that sell finished memorials in North America.

The Company’s quarrying and manufacturing competitors
include both domestic and international companies, some of
which may have greater financial, technical, manufacturing, mar-
keting and other resources than the Company. Foreign competi-
tors of the Company may have access to lower cost labor and bet-
ter commercial deposits of memorial grade granite, and may be
subject to less restrictive regulatory requirements than the
Company. For example, companies in South Africa, India, China
and Portugal manufacture and export finished granite memorials
into North America which compete with the Company’s products.

The competition for retail sales of granite memorials faced by
the Company’s retail outlets is also intense and is based on price,
quality, service, design availability and breadth of product line.
Competitors include funeral home and cemetery owners, includ-
ing consolidators, which have greater financial resources than the
Company, as well as approximately 3,000 independent retailers of
granite memorials located outside of cemeteries and funeral
homes.

The sale of cemetery lots and related products is highly com-
petitive. The competition is based upon price, geographic location,
and the overall aesthetics, maintenance and upkeep of the ceme-
tery. Competitors include churches and municipalities that own
and operate cemeteries, and other cemetery owners, including
consolidators, which may have greater financial resources that the
Company.

We cannot assure you that domestic or foreign competition
will not adversely impact our business.

Sales of our products are seasonal and may cause our quarterly
operating results to fluctuate.

Historically, our operations have experienced certain seasonal
patterns. Generally, our net sales are highest in the second or third
quarter and lowest in the first quarter of each year due primarily
to weather. Cemeteries in northern regions generally do not accept
granite memorials during winter months when the ground is
frozen because they cannot be properly set. We typically close cer-
tain of our Vermont and Canadian quarries during these months
because of increased operating costs attributable to weather con-
ditions. We have historically incurred an aggregate net loss during
the first six months of each calendar year. Our operating results
may vary materially from quarter to quarter due to, among other
things, acquisitions, changes in product mix and limitations on the
timing of price increases, making quarterly vear-to-year compar-
isons less meaningful.

Our competitive position could be harmed if we are unable to pro-
tect our intellectual property rights.

We believe that our tradenames, brands, designs and other
intellectual property are of great value, and we rely on trademark,

copyright and other proprietary rights laws to protect our rights to
this valuable intellectual property. Third parties may in the future
try to challenge our ownership of our intellectual property. In
addition, our business is subject to the risk of third parties coun-
terfeiting our products or infringing on our intellectual property
rights. We may need to resort to litigation in the future to protect
our intellectual property rights, which could result in substantial
costs and diversion of resources. Our failure to protect our intel-
lectual property rights, most notably, the Rock of Ages trademark,
could have a material adverse effect on our business and competi-
tive position.

The increasing trend toward cremation, and potential declines in
memorialization for other reasons, may result in decreased sales of
our products.

There is an increasing trend toward cremation in the United
States. According to the Cremation Association of North America,
or CANA, cremation was used in approximately 25% of the deaths
in the United States in 2000, compared to approximately 17% in
1990, and CANA expects this rate to rise to approximately 40% by
2010. While we continue to believe that most families will choose
to memorialize their loved ones, regardless of whether they choose
cremation over a traditional burial, to the extent increases in cre-
mation rates result in decreases in memorialization rates, this
decrease will result in a decline in our memorial sales, which
would adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our business is also subject to the risk that memorialization
rates may decline over time for other reasons. Certain cemeteries
have in the past and may in the future limit the use of granite
memorials as a memorialization option. To the extent that gener-
al memorialization rates or the willingness of cemeteries to accept
granite memorials declines, this decline could adversely affect our
business.

Our business is subject to a number of operating risks that are
difficult to predict and manage.

Our quarry and manufacturing operations are subject to
numerous risks and hazards inherent in those industries, includ-
ing among others, unanticipated surface or underground condi-
tions, varying memorial grade granite recovery rates due to natu-
ral cracks and other imperfections in granite quarries, equipment
failures, accidents and worker injuries, labor issues, weather con-
ditions and events, unanticipated transportation costs and price
fluctuations. As a result, actual costs and expenditures, production
quantities and delivery dates, as well as revenues, may differ mate-
rially from those anticipated, which could adversely affect our
operating results.

Our international operations may expose us to a number of risks
related to conducting business in foreign countries.

We derived approximately 23% of our revenues in fiscal 2002
from sales outside the United States, with approximately 9% of
revenues in fiscal 2002 from sales in Canada by the Company’s
Canadian subsidiaries. In prior years such percentage represented
by international sales has been higher. Foreign sales are subject to
numerous risks, including currency conversion risks, limitations
(including taxes) on the reparation of earnings, slower and more




difficult accounts receivable collection and greater complication
and expense in complying with foreign laws.

Sales of our ancillary products are cyclical, which may adversely
affect our operating results.

The markets for our industrial precision products, which
include machine base and surface plates that are utilized in the
automotive, aeronautic, computer, machine tool, optical, precision
grinding and inspection industries, and granite press rolls used in
the manufacture of paper, are subject to substantial cyclical varia-
tions. Sales of these products have declined significantly as a result
of the recent general economic downturn and may continue to
decline upon a future or sustained downturn in, or as a result of
uncertainties regarding current and future economic conditions
that generally affect, such industries. We cannot assure you that
changes in the industries to which we sell our precision products
will not adversely affect our operating results.

Existing stockholders are able to exercise significant control over us.

Kurt M. Swenson and his brother, Kevin C. Swenson, collec-
tively have 63% of the total voting power of all outstanding shares
of our common stock, and will therefore be in a position to con-
trol the outcome of most corporate actions requiring stockholder
approval, including the election of directors and the approval of
transactions involving a change in control of the Company.

We may incur substantial costs to comply with government
regulations.

Our quarry and manufacturing operations are subject to sub-
stantial regulation by federal and state governmental statutes and
agencies, including the federal Occupational Safety and Health
Act, the Mine Safety and Health Administration and similar state
and Canadian authorities. Our operations are also subject to
extensive laws, and regulations administered by the United States
Environmental Protection Agency and similar state and Canadian
authorities, for the protection of the environment, including but
not limited to those relating to air and water quality, solid and haz-
ardous waste handling and disposal. These laws and regulations
may require parties to fund remedial action or to pay damages
regardless of fault. Environmental laws and regulations may also
impose liability with respect to divested or terminated operations
even if the operations were divested or terminated many years ago.
In addition, current and future environmental or occupational
health and safety laws, regulations or regulatory interpretations
may require significant expenditures for compliance, which could
require us to modify or curtail our operations. We cannot predict
the effect of such laws, regulations or regulatory interpretations on
our business, financial condition or results of operations, While we
expect to be able to continue to comply with existing environ-
mental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations,
any material non-compliance could adversely affect our business
and results of operations.

Provisions of our corporate organizational documents and
Delaware law could delay or prevent a change in control of the
Company, even if it would be beneficial to our stockholders.

Certain provisions contained in our Certificate of Incorporation
and By-laws:
O grant ten votes per share to each share of Class B
Common Stock;

O divide the Board of Directors into three classes, each
of which will have a different three-year term;

I provide that the stockholders may remove directors
from office only for cause and by a supermajority vote;

O provide that special meetings of the stockholders
may be called only by the Board of Directors or certain
Company officers and not by stockholders;

O establish certain advance notice procedures for
nomination of candidates for election as directors and
for stockholder proposals to be considered at annual
stockholders’ meetings;

O authorize the issuance of preferred stock.
Accordingly, the Board of Directors is empowered,
without stockholder approval, to issue preferred stock
with dividend, liquidation, conversion, voting or other
rights that could materially adversely affect the voting
power or other rights of, or be dilutive to, the holders
of our Common Stock.

Certain of these provisions may have the effect of discouraging,
delaying or preventing a change in control or unsolicited acquisi-
tion proposals that a stockholder may consider favorable. In addi-
tion, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by
the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which may prohibit or delay large stockholders,
in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding
voting stock, from merging or combining with us.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December
31, 2002 and 2001 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders” equity and comprehensive income
(loss) and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

As discussed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for its
quarry inventory from the first-in, first-out method to the specific annual average cost method.

KPre P

KPMG LLP

February 21, 2003
Boston, Massachusetts




Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2002 and 2001

ASSETS (note 6) 2002 2001
Current assets:
Cash and Cash eQUIVALENTS ...v....vveeecrrere e st s ssessssssses s sss et sessesssenssssenssnsessscns $ 6185263 $ 3,435,181
Trade receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,046,124 in 2002
and $1,547,923 in 2001 (note 5) 17,670,481 16,119,068
Due from affiiates (NOE 11) it sesstessssa et s sss st s st sbes b st s b s s sassensaenn — 102,554
INVENTOries (TIOTES 3 ATIA 5) cu.vvercrieecre et sbse bbb st st se st bbb br st as e re s 21,654,387 22,680,187
INCOME TAXES FECEIVADIE .. .vrviir ettt tse sttt sr bbbt beberesesstes s sesesneebosnstesssneasrastensnntnns 213,133 12,974
Deferred tax assets (NOTE 8) ...oviiereerinireereeieneeesineses e ssessssessssse s sssse s saesasssessessessssssssssnssesssssesssssnssanes 859,832 694,000
AsSets held fOT Sale (IOLE 16) .uuvveirrrienrunireniseiissrsssesssiessssssssssssssssssessssssstsessssess ssssssssesssssssssssssssasssnns — 2,546,216
OREr CUITENE ASSELS....vuiveivrivereeesieesrrsiressseressseresses s et s sessrrssssssses et sss b e s st s sss sttt sebsassessntsbensentans 4,125,250 4,103,375
TOLAL CUITETIL ASSELS .vuvvierieeeirereeriecreressareseessesetseetsersestessessessesssstosetsesessssesesstassessseesessesssssosasssssssstonsssesessenseseans 50,708,346 49,693,555

Property, plant and equipment:

Granite reserves and devVelOPIMENT COSTS .. v wummrumimriirrrermresecesrersreseeserssessiesassssssssssssssssesssessessssesssssens 15,339,834 15,838,230
LATI oottt sttt ena bttt s s asea bbbt e AR AR R AR AR e RS R bR ER e n AR bt ens 9,227,410 9,123,662
Buildings and 1and IMProVemMeNts ..........cwrernrivcnrimnriseccceecsnorsesssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssessssassssessnses 15,609,258 14,465,284
Machinery and eqUIPIIENT ... et sss st et 26,156,207 25,726,213
FUITITULE QI FIXEUTES 11vvorveseriiresiersiieesesisesesseseesessesessstseessssssssstsessesessossessssacseemesssenenseestosssssassossesssssensaosens 2,354,042 1,667,789
CONSIIUCHION-TN-PIOCESS w.vvuvvrneveiriensoreeetsesseseessereestsaesesssasssssestssesssessstssessesssestsssesessassecsassssetsessesssesssssasesnessns 640,843 80,923

69,327,594 66,902,101
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization .....c....eecereesesserseesmsmesssersssessanns 25,406,288 23,758,832
Net property, plant and eQUIPITENT ......cc.ucvcvccmreemnrresmrissemmiererscssesesssssesenmisseeessensessessesenmissens 43,921,306 43,143,269

Other assets:

Cash surrender value of life insurance, net of loans of $77,496 in 2002 and $65,217 in 2001 .............. 765,719 811,139
Intangibles, less accumulated amortization of $482,873 in 2002 and $4,667,568 in 2001 (note 2) ...... 574,350 34,492,234
Debt issuance costs, less accumulated amortization of $66,212 in 2002 and $175,819 in 2001 ............ 303,752 50,225
Due from affiliates (NOLE 11) v sssss s st s ssssssesses s s s sasssessssasens 80,883 128,928
Deferred tax assets (TIOTE 8) vuuvverirrineesinesonmiessessessnmsesessssssssssssssssissenseessnssssssessessssssesssasssossssssssssaens 6,249,168 873,000
Intangible Pension asset (TLOTE 9) ....vvuurirccrrceerreeasneeesse et smisssessssesessssessssesessssessaessosesssssssssrnses 1,135,798 221,869
Prearranged receivables (TOTE 1) cuceieremieremmineimnrisssesessenressssssssisssssesssnsesssssssesssssessssesssnsesssnesssnnees 14,013,176 15,388,492
Cemetery PrOPerty, at COSt (NNOLE 1) v iurrcirreereirneeerneesemsessesessssesesiessssessssassessessasssssessssessesssesssnssseeses 6,056,049 5,997,568
@] 4] OO U O OO OO OO T ORI 2,025,483 2,992,559
TOLA] OTHET @SSEES.vvieiniirieerieeierit ettt st sis et e eeobsesesb e s s b b e b et s st sbssas st esabeben st erststsentsnsessassenssstasasns 31,204,378 60,956,014
TOTAL ASSELS .vvervrtererreter it sttt st es st est bbb b et s esat s R e sa b e s e e bbb b s st st s en b s s bt st berR s b s rns $125,834,030  $153,792,838

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Current liabilities:

Current installments of long-term debt
Deferred compensation payable (note 9
Trade payables.......orccernrcerinecence

Income taxes payable.......cowvereirrrionees
Customer deposits ..c...vvereeeeererreenrernerene.
Total current liabilities.......ccccnerenrecrnnnes

Deferred compensation (note 9) ....c.c.veevene.

Accrued pension cost (N0t 9) ccvvvvererrrcernn.

OLhEE sttt ers
Total Habilities ...veeveeeererereeeeeereeesireees

Commitments and contingencies (note 4)
Stockholders’ equity (note 10):

Preferred stock - $.01 par value;
2,500,000 shares authorized

Common stock — Class A, $.01 par valu
30,000,000 shares authorized;
issued and outstanding 4,916,336 and

15,000,000 shares authorized,;
issued and outstanding 2,756,395 and

Additional paid-in capital........cccouercriieccinnnes

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Accrued eXPenses.....erruecrerersrnenresneees
Due to affiliates (note 11} .c.cocveircrrvenenns

Prearranged deferred revenue..........occece.ees

No shares issued and outstanding........

(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings......

Total stockholders’ equity.........cccrmrvverec

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Borrowings under lines of credit (N0te 5) ....ccieermneiiiiincrnsiicrseiseseemssmnesecssessecssmossesons

(NOLE 6) vervreeeeerenemeciente et sssses st sbs s esr e s st s essesssssssessons

ettt e e s et

......................................................................................................

Long-term debt, excluding current installments (MOt 6) .....uucvnccrimriencrmnssmmieccrmiineessicsncsionses

......................................................................................................

Accrued post-retirement Denefit COSt (NOTE 9) vveuucvrerererrmiiriimncicemneimcreeinesesensisesssisesssssesssssesesrisesons

&

5,014,408 in 2002 and 2001, TESPECLIVELY ......cvwrrurerermirmimmnmmsisiimieecsssineenmsessssisesessassissesenssecssons
Common Stock — Class B, $01 par value;

2,787,021 in 2002 and 2001,

respectively, convertible into equivalent shares of Class A common stock ........coccvcvveciennerinnnecionenins

(1059 o

2002

2001

$ 4,385,486

$ 3,970,402

205,312 14,671,315
323,659 278,649
1,957,291 1,945,625
5,000,941 5,236,561
9,027 —

— 85,875
7,318,316 6,711,080
19,200,032 32,899,507
12,832,354 322,500
4,649,049 4,070,293
21,845,430 24224212
2,690,765 390,987
834,482 779,093
1,136,286 1,435,904
63,188,398 64,122,496
49,193 50,144
27,564 27,870
68,573,821 69,066,548
(3,441,730) 21,473,481
(2,563,216) (947,701)
62,645,632 89,670,342
$125,834,030 153,792,838
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Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
2002 2001 2000
Net revenues:
QUATTYINE covocrrircviosrrs st sevis s sa e s sts s ses st bbb bbb 8 $ 29,734,388 $25,774,536 $22,886,916
MaANUTACTUIING oo st bt ssssssssssossssssssessies 19,726,136 22,227,965 27,183417
RELAIIAE wevvreviiiritriericcrinisescnicssesisecni st sssssisssessecssessrisssesssesssssnssos s ssmssasssssseassssssessssossssions 38,448,279 43,159,474 40,622,169
COIMEBLEIIES 1uvvvveverserereisiasieressee st snasessessscosibsbrs et en e s s s st sseassraesesbbsrstaensese bt bobs s b b sasebabasbostatbasbasarases 4,604,216 3,142,682 —
TOtAl NEL FEVEIIUES....vvvverrrrrsiesesessis et seaessec s ssb st b ens st esb s ts s sas st e b b ss s ssessas s ssssen 92,513,519 94,304,657 90,692,502
Cost of revenues:
Quarrying ........................................................................................................................................ 16,751,045 14,427,461 13,015,779
Manufacturing ... 14,204,750 16,806,213 20,382,475
RELAIHIG vverrrvertisccrienisesiesreieces et esere s sssosassbessessssas s st e s bbbt bens 17,134,309 17,698,738 18,233,141
COIMIBLETIES 1vrvevirereisetsresietsssstressssesstaesessaassssses s sas et sess st nssoscasrassssansssmetsssessnassesesesssesesssnssosatassees 2,595,057 2,324,238 —_
TOLAl COST Of TEVETIUES ..ovvvvieevriesisisis et ssb e ss s ses st es s sas st bt brss st ens s rases 50,685,161 51,256,650 51,631,395
Gross profit:
QUETTYING covvorrverettseasieemssesessassesesns st sosese s sssssssssaesesessosesessssosesshossss b ssentssssss s ssssenssesssssessenasssens 12,983,843 11,347,075 9,871,137
Manufacturing ... 5,521,386 5,421,752 6,800,942
Retailing ......... 21,313,970 25,460,736 22,389,028
COITIELETIES 1vvveiive i veresreesisse i sesesssesessnssstsesebsbe sabebas bt essesssbsstaeasesbesasssssaetsneamannssssatsrasssronssosnsarases 2,009,159 818,444 —
TOtal GrOSS PIOMI.ccrrrrercersieeeererecmneenmecrresestesressicerersesssessssressessssssesesasssssessenesessssossesssneees 41,828,358 43,048,007 39,061,107
Selling, general and administrative EXPeNSes......co.uuiverevecnmisinerrorimsessisesenmrseessssicesssssessssssisssseossoss 35,868,249 36,706,809 33,163,621
Loss on disposal 0f 255015 (I1OT€ 16) w.ucurrreerrrerrierecrieeeserresmscssmreosesmenresmsnesesssossessesssssssssessensaseseons — 2,534,091 —
[NCOME fTOM OPETAIONS ceerrvusccrrerircrsisensneeeanesisenssecesiseresenesssessssassrsentssessssasssmessssnssasessns 5,960,109 3,807,107 5,897,486
INTETESE EXPETISE ...vrvrrscerirencrnriserienseesne st rssts i e es sttt st e r e s s caesas 738,108 1,757,929 2,143,226
Income before provision for income taxes and cumulative effect
of changes in accounting principle 5,222,001 2,049,178 3,754,260
Provision for income taxes (note 8) .....cceeerrerennn. . 1,426,914 1,616,400 1,290,764
Net income before cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles.......cvovcenercrnvannnn. 3,795,087 432,778 2,463,496
Cumulative effect in prior years of changes in accounting principles
(net of tax benefit of $3,459,151) (n0tes 2 aNd 3)....ceeiirere et (28,710,298) — —
INEE INCOIMNE (JOSS) rvvrrverirreirrererrsissies s s smsse e sssstons st ess b s em s as et st es b st sas s en bbb smsssanesssas $(24,915,211) $ 432,778 $ 2,463,496

Net income (loss)bper share — basic: . . o
Net income before cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles ........ooccvcvcennrvnceenes $0.48 $0.06 $0.33

Cumulative effect in prior year of a change in accounting principle

(net of tax benefit of $5,459,151) (3.65) — —
Net income (1088) PEr SHATE ....vuuuvereeereerereeieeiieceeseressecesecscsesseesssssessssessesssssssssssssssesssssnsens $ (3.17) $0.06 $0.33
Net income (1055Lper share — diluted; .oovecoprvonnirriennnsy rereense et sesstaes OO
Net income before cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles ......ecvcccerrnecen. $ 0.48 $0.06 $0.33
Cumulative effect in prior year of changes in accounting principles
(net of tax benefit of $5,459,151) (3.64) — —
Net income (1088) PEL SNATE ....ovvvveonmecrcrnrrrcicennrerismneniesessesases e scasssssersisssessmmassesssessessrns $ (3.16) $0.06 $0.33
Pro Forma amounts assuming the specific annual average cost method of valuing
quarry inventory is applied retroactively . . o
Nét income before cumulative effect changes in accounting principles.....cccoecrercecnrennas — 562,634 2,278,183
Earnings per share — Basic......cwurmcoemmienermccmicmrenmsssriscermmene — 0.07 0.31
Earnings per share - diluted — 0.07 0.30
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic ...c.coeeecnmnecceonecriessssereonee 7,847,821 7,605,785 7,447,460
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—diluted.........ccccoevrcircrermncrrasriccrnne. 7,880,161 7,675,990 7,575,839

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’
Equity and Comprehensive Income

Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Number of Shares Issued
and Outstanding
Class A Class B Accumulated
Common Common Class A Class B Additional Other Total
Stock Stock Common  Common Paid-In Retained ~ Comprehensive Stockholders’
(Shares) (Shares) Stock Stock Capital Earnings Income Equity
Balance at December 31, 1999............ 4,328,171 3,115,746  $43,282 $31,157  $67,909,375  $18,577,207 § (179,359) $86,381,662
Comprehensive income:
Net INCOME..vurvervrrrreeeereneerreonns — — — — — 2,463,496 —_ 2,463,496
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — — — —  {212,963) (212,963)
Total comprehensive income..... 2,250,533
Conversion of common stock... 343,626  (343,626) 3,436 (3,436) — — — —
Exercise of 0ptions .......c.uueerurens — 84,318 — 843 303,257 — — 304,100
Repurchase of stock..........cccrum. (6,578) (30,000) (66) (300) (216,405) — — (216,771)
Balance at December 31, 2000........... 4665219 2,826,438  $46,652 $28,264  $67,996,227  $21,040,703 § (392,322) $88,719,524
Comprehensive income:
Net INCOME.revrvirmmmerrvirerirnmennes — — — — — 432,778 — 432,778
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — — — —  (396,382) (396,382)
Minimum pension liability........ — — — — — —  (158,997) (158,997)
Total comprehensive income......... (122,601)
Conversion of common stock ....... 359,999  {359,999) 3,600 (3,600) — — — —
Exercise of options ..., — 320,582 — 3,206 1,186,421 — — 1,189,627
Repurchase of Stock.............cccccennns (10,810) — (108) — (116,100) — — (116,208)
Balance at December 31, 2001 ........... 5,104,408 2,787,021  $50,144 $27,870  $69,066,548  $21,473,481 $ (947,701) $89,670,342
Comprehensive INCOME: ...
Net income (1088) cevvvnreerrvnreronionen. — — —_ — —  (24,915,211) —  (24,915211)
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — — —_ — 32,684 32,684
Minimum pension liability,
net of taxes of $678,631 ............ — — — — — — (1,648,199) (1,648,199)
Total comprehensive income ............. (26,530,726)
Conversion of common stocK............ 45,626 (45,626) 456 (456) — — — —
Exercise of OPHONS covvveucevveneererceceens 35,002 15,000 350 150 262,185 — — 262,685
Repurchase of stock .....ovevveveccrverencns (175,700) — (1,757) — (754,912) — — (756,669)
Balance at December 31, 2002 ........... 4919336 2,756,395  $49,193 $27,564  $68,573,821  $(3,441,730) $(2,563,216) $62,645,632

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities:
INEt INCOITIE (JOSS) 1orverirriieeirieereire et st setss st b s ersbes st as st en bbbt $(24,915211) $ 432,778 $2,463,496
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
L08S 0N SALE OF ASSELS 1rvuvvirieiiireririreeriesrere et s tes et r bt s s st ae s bt ss b s ssntsssnns — 1,734,088 —
Depreciation, depletion and amortization..........c.oromcmenrmseions 3,497,300 4,461,697 4,670,803
Write down 0f GOOAWIlL.....vveuiiveceiriccrrcnniccre e eseeens 33,781,555 — 382,864
Decrease (increase) in cash surrender value of life InSUrance.........eeevnveevveeennnne. 45,420 788,348 (74,355)
L05S 0N ASSELS NEId OT SALE 1rvneieieee ittt sttt sttt onsmsaneonae — 800,003 —
Loss on sale of property, plant and eqUIPMENT .....cccrrrenrreeeriicrscrssessneessenmenenns 22,633 196,905 172,198
Cumulative effect of a change in inventory method.......c..ouvcevvencrnecerecrnneeennenens 387,521 — —
DEEITEA TAXES 1.vvivverisriervieiesiserrietesseses e isstsssstesssbissss st sntest s entasarssesessessssanaesssssssensens (5,542,000) (72,092) 452,377
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables.......ooviivcroreeeieeseeisesresensecensereenne (1,551,413) 1,643,054 (1,353,744)
Decrease (increase) in due to/from related parties......o.cveemererversecuneeene. 159,626 135,821 (272,014)
Decrease (Increase) N INVENLOTIES v..vucvivvervisieeesrevecensvisessssssnessessssessssessessessressenns 638,279 (100,095) 494,930
Decrease (increase) in Other CUITENT SSELS ....vurrverinrivsrieserencinisensresseressersens (16,800) 368,823 (600,559)
Decrease (increase) in intangible pension asset......coeeeerereerrreesermerrnecesenes (913,929) (102,386) (119,483)
Decrease in prearranged receivables ..o 1,375,316 449,714 -_—
INCrease in CEMELErY PIOPETLY c..ovrueeuecrerurmeesreeserisnsisessssssesessecsnesssessssssssensersases (58,481) (211,917) —
Decrease (increase) N OHher ASSeIS.....uremmireiriinneresesssessessssesesseresesseses 1,212,000 (79,292) (58,603)
Increase (decrease) in trade PAYabIEs ........ovcceccermiierericrimmnsivnsensiecnsecienisennee 11,666 258,203 (348,629)
Increase (decrease) In aCCrued EXPENSES ...urverrrmererrmueesmerremirenmmessonsesmsresesssncsns (235,620) 1,612,702 1,014,791
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable/receivable ........coovvvvivinciniccnninnn. (286,034) 594,160 (1,365,039)
Increase (decrease) in cUStOMET AEPOSIES .uevvuvrvenrvenrerrrrererenrieeesneeeceseeseneaseesnes 607,236 (56,457) (552,117)
Increase (decrease) in deferred COMPENSation ..........ecevenccrmrcernrevcimneceensnonenne. 623,766 803,730 (112,831)
Increase (decrease) in accrued PENSION COSL....uummnrmrmrmmnereerreceseriseassesens 651,579 (47,610) {62,593)
Increase in accrued post-retirement benefit Cost......cmecrmreecmnenns 55,389 73,556 70,732
Decrease in prearranged deferred reVenue ...........c.vevecvermererrriecmecrnnsnsenseenserees (2,378,782) (1,029,438) —
Increase (decrease) (n other HabIlitIEs vvucvurveervrieririeresmrierismsessnrsarinseensisisesessenns (299,618) (1,083,457) (118,941)
Net cash provided by Operating aCtiVItES.......uuveervcevemrrcerencererncrissesnisnsessnsenes 6,871,398 11,570,838 4,683,283
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and eqUIPMENt.........vvcvcviecrcrcincrincrsrcensinnesseseons (4,061,070)  (3,752,960)  (2,884,389)
Proceeds from Sale 0f GS56ES v ssse s ssesss b bessesss s esesnns 2,296,216 3,263,038 884,586
Acquisitions, net of cash aCqUITEd .....ccevvercrnincicineseescceones e — (7,043,366) (655,081)
Increase in INtangible ASSELS ....cvuviverrcerimmrcmincereerereesnres s ssenees — {28,050) (152,164)
Net cash used in INVEStING ACHVILIES .....veererrueeusncrensreerinscresrissescionesssessecsssieens (1,764,854) (7,561,338) (2,807,048)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net borrowings (repayments) under lines of credit .......c.ccecurvecmcennecmnivvericecrninnnnne 415,084 (6,369,858) (3,279,586)
DIEDT ISSUATICE COBLS..vrrmrrrrnrrimnitnsssssesessiassessassasssssssssssssesssssss st sassssssssssassassassassossesees (319,752) — —
Proceeds from long-term debt.........couvrirrmeminecmnrermccserisesissnsessessessesssnseses — — 6,500,000
Principal payments on 1ong-term debt ... iesinecierieninernireniinnerieenmssireseesne. (1,956,149) (4,325,222) (417,387)
INEE SEOCK LT AIISACTIONS . teeevriereerstareesseeressraeeesssesesares st eessetsteesesseenssseasessssessestassesesssesmessssee (493,984) 1,073,419 87,330
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities.........coevrrerreereevereeonmerreerenns (2,354,801) (9,621,661) 2,890,357
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash..........coccrmioccincmeesnn, (1,661) (454,023) (142,441)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash eqUIVAIENtS........ovvrevorrrrerenriereensrene. 2,750,082 (6,066,184) 4,624,151
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of Year ... 3,435,181 9,501,365 4,877,214
Cash and cash equivalents, end Of YEaT .....oc.coreeverveernrrceinreinnccss e csseesssessensaaees $ 6,185,263 $ 3,435,181 $9,501,365

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consoclidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:

IEETESE cocvet ettt et ettt s s s s esestsssasraon
INCOIME TAXES 1overvivirirerirircreiiesensr st e st e essa s sberesssnsssssosssanaten

Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities:

The Company recorded an adjustment for an increase in the
minimum pension liability of $3,240,759 and $380,866 and an
increase in the intangible asset for pension of $913,929 and
$102,386 in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

During the third quarter of 2001 the Company completed the

Acquisitions:

ASStS ACQUITEA .ovveerererreererenrecrre et er e
Liabilities assumed and iSSUEd ........ovvceermeerimnncrermmsirenecrinneccecnesns
Common SLOCK ISSULA .....vouvvreivmiivcreresissreecmeesiiererensessssneenns
Cash PAId c.vvveercircrtrci e
Costs related t0 ACQUISIHIONS ..vvcurvorucvircrerreresenserernscesimnecrenseressensennes
Less cash acquired .......cc.cccerrcenieneinncneonernene e sssscessseens

Net cash paid for acqUISItIONS .........ccccvrmeevcvmever s

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2002 2001 2000
............................... $ 738,108 $1,757,929 $2,143,226
.............................. 1,344,453 1,003,249 2,209,383

sale of SMI and Childs manufacturing plants in Elberton, Georgia
in a non-cash transaction in which a note receivable was recorded
for $1,640,000.

During 2000 the Company increased intangibles and other
long-term liabilities for $420,000 relating to covenants-not-to-
compete.

2002 2001 2000
............................... $ —  $34,560,804 $780,777
............................... —  (27,517,438) (125,696)
............................... — 7,043,366 655,081
............................... $ —  § 7,043,366 $655,081
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Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries

Naotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

L. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) is an
integrated quarrier, manufacturer, wholesaler and retailer of gran-
ite and products manufactured from granite. The Company also
owns and operates cemeteries.

A. Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany balances and ‘transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

B. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company consid-
ers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents.

C. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is deter-
mined using the specific annual average cost method for the retail,
manufacturing and cemetery segments. During the fourth quarter
2002, the Company changed its method of accounting for its gran-
ite block inventory from the first-in, first-out method to the spe-
cific annual average cost method as discussed in note 3.

The portion of developed cemetery property that manage-
ment estimates will be used in the next twelve months is included
in inventories. All other developed cemetery property is classified
as a noncurrent asset and is included in cemetery property.

D. Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is
calculated using the straight-line and declining balance methods,
based upon the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings and land improvements 5 to 40 years
Machinery and equipment 3 to 20 years
Furniture and fixtures 5to 12 years

Depreciation expense amounted to $3,091,734, $3,015,215 and
$3,174,615 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, which includes
depreciation related to equipment under capital leases.

Cost depletion and amortization of granite reserves and devel-
opment costs are provided by charges to operations based on cubic
feet produced in relation to estimated reserves of the property. Cost
depletion and amortization charged to operations amounted to
$203,011, $62,767 and $41,228 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

E. Intangibles
Intangible assets include both goodwill and amortizable intangible
assets. Amortizable intangible assets (those intangible assets with

definite estimated useful lives) are recorded at cost and are amor-
tized, using the straight-line method, over their estimated useful
lives. The Company assesses the recoverability of its amortizable
intangible assets in accordance with SFAS 144 by determining
whether the amortization of the asset balance over its remaining
life can be recovered through undiscounted future operating cash
flows. If projections indicate that the unamortized asset will not be
recovered, an adjustment would be made to reduce the net asset to
fair value. Cash flow projections are based on trends of historical
performance and management’s estimate of future performance,
giving consideration to existing and anticipated competitive and
economic conditions. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company
adopted SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and
goodwill is no longer amortized, but instead tested for impairment
at least annually. The Company tests goodwill for impairment on
an annual basis by comparing the fair value of its reporting units
to their fair value. As discussed in note 2, the Company wrote off
its goodwill as of January 1, 2002 in connection with the transi-
tional impairment test.

F. Debt Issuance Costs

The Company amortizes debt issuance costs using the straight-line
method over the term of the related borrowing. Amortization
expense was $66,212, $42,725 and $42,725 in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

G. Foreign Currency Translation

The Company translates the accounts of its foreign subsidiaries in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation, under which all
assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect
at year-end. Revenue and expense accounts are translated using
weighted average exchange rates in effect during the year. Gains or
losses from foreign currency translation are charged to accumulat-
ed other comprehensive income that is included in stockholders’
equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

H. Income Taxes

The Company files its U.S. Federal income tax returns on a con-
solidated basis. Rock of Ages Canada, Inc., a wholly-owned sub-
sidiary, is responsible for income taxes in Canada.

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for
the future tax consequences attributable to the difference between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and lia-
bilities and their respective tax basis. The Company measures
deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company
recognizes the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates in income in the period that includes the enact-
ment date.




The Company is allowed to claim percentage depletion, under
IRS Code Section 613, for tax purposes based upon income
derived from quarrying operations.

The Company intends to reinvest the unremitted earnings of
its non-U.S. subsidiaries and postpone their remittance indefinite-
ly. Accordingly, no provision for U.S. income taxes was required on
such earnings during the three years ended December 31, 2002.
Additional taxes could be due if these earnings were distributed.
During 2002, the Company received a $1,525,188 cash distribu-
tion from the Canadian subsidiary. No incremental U.S. taxes were
due on this distribution as a result of available foreign tax credits
and state tax losses.

L. Stock-based Employee Compensation

The Company has adopted the disclosure provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 148, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure.” Which
is an amendment of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), and continues to apply Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in
accounting for its stock plans. If the Company had elected to rec-
ognize compensation cost for all of the plans based upon the fair
value at the grant dates for awards under those plans, consistent
with the method prescribed by SFAS No. 123, net income and
earnings per share would have been changed to the pro forma
amounts indicated below:

2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss),

as reported.....cennn, $(24,915,211) $432,778  $2,463,469
Net income (loss),

pro forma ..o (25,180,947) 89,342 2,202,163
Net income (loss)

per share, pro forma.. (3.21) 0.01 0.30
Net income {loss)

per share —

assuming dilution,

pro forma ...t (3.20) 0.01 0.29

Pro forma net income reflects only options granted subsequent to
December 31, 1995 and is not necessarily indicative of future
effects on net income. Therefore, the full impact of calculating
compensation cost for stock options under SFAS No. 123 is not
reflected in the pro forma net income amounts presented because
compensation cost is reflected over the options’ vesting periods
and compensation cost only for options granted after January 1,
1996.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of
grant. Options granted prior to 1997 were valued using the
Minimum Value Method with the following weighted average
assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 6%; dividend yield of $0;
and expected lives of four (4) years. The per share weighted aver-

age of stock options granted during 2002 and 2000 was $4.06 and
$2.32, respectively, on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted average
assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 3.9% and 6%; dividend yield
of $0; expected volatility of 61% and 52%, and expected lives of
five (5) and four (4) years, respectively. There were no stock
options granted in 2001.

J.  Pension and Other Post-Retirement Plans
The Company has a defined benefit pension plan covering sub-
stantially all of its Vermont-based non-union employees. The ben-
efits are based on years of service and the employee’s compensa-
tion. The cost of this program is being funded currently.

The Company has a salary continuation plan that covers cer-
tain employees who have deferred compensation agreements with
the Company. The Company measures the costs of its obligations
based on actuarial estimates. The Company recognizes net period-
ic costs as employees render the necessary services to earn the
deferred compensation benefits.

The Company also sponsors a defined benefit post-retirement
health care plan for certain early retirees and defined benefit post-
retirement group life insurance plans for all Vermont-based union
and non-union employees. The Company measures the costs of its
obligation based on actuarial estimates and recognizes net period-
ic costs as retirees and employees render the services necessary to
earn the post-retirement benefits.

K. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles requires management to use
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabil-
ities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

L. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with
the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” This Statement requires that
long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles be reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
The Company measures recoverability of assets to be held and
used by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future
net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets
are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets exceed the fair value of the assets. The Company reports
assets to be disposed of at the lower of the carrying amount or fair
value less costs to sell.




46 -

M. Revenue Recognition

Manufacturing and Retailing

The manufacturing division recognizes revenue upon shipment of
finished orders from the manufacturing plant. The retailing divi-
sion recognizes revenue upon the setting of the memorial. In cer-
tain instances, the Company may enter into an agreement with a
customer that provides for extended payment terms, generally up
to two vears from either the date of setting of the memorial or, in
certain instances, upon the settlement of an estate.

Quarrying

The quarry division recognizes revenue from sales of granite
blocks when the granite is shipped or when the customer selects
and identifies the block at the quarry site and the customer
requests the Company to store the block. At that time, the block is
removed from the Company’s inventory, the customer’s name is
printed on the block, and title and risk of ownership passes to the
buyer. In many cases, granite blocks owned by customers remain
on the Company’s property for varying periods of time after title
passes to the buyer. Payment terms are less 5% 30 days, net 30 days,
except the December terms described below. Sales of the
Company’s blocks are FOB quarry and the Company retains the
obligation to load customer’s blocks on trucks. At its Barre,
Vermont location, sales are FOB Barre, Vermont and the Company
retains a delivery obligation using the Company’s trucks for block
customers in Barre. The customer may take delivery at any time
determined by the customer, but all invoices must be paid in
accordance with their terms when due whether or not the cus-
tomer requests delivery.

The Company considers the earnings process substantially
complete despite the Company’s obligations to load the blocks,
and, in the case of its Barre customers, deliver the blocks, because
the cost of delivery service is inconsequential (less than 3%) in
relation to the selling price. Further, under industry terms of trade,
title passes and the payment obligation is established when the
block is identified to a particular customer and transaction.

In December each year, the Company provides special 90-day
payment terms at its Barre quarries for all block purchased in the
month of December. The reason for this is that the Barre quarries
are generally closed from mid-December through mid-March
because of weather. The quarry customer’s manufacturing plants
remain open during most of this period, however, and most prefer
to assure they own blocks of a size and quality selected by them
prior to the quarries’ closure. All blocks purchased in December
on deferred payment terms are invoiced on or about December 31
and removed from the Company’s inventory with title passing to
the buyer. Payment terms are one-third of the invoice amount on
January 15, one-third on February 15, and one-third on March 15.
The program provides essentially the normal 30-day payment
terms during the months when the quarry is closed notwithstand-
ing the customer’s purchase of a three months supply in
December. Customers need not use these terms and may buy from
inventory during the closure period on a first-come, first-served
basis with normal 30-day terms.

Cemeteries
In 2001, the Company acquired 16 cemeteries (see Note 15).
Cemetery activity is accounted for in the manner described below.

For pre-need sales of interment rights, the associated revenue
and all costs to acquire the sale are recognized in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 66,
“Accounting for Sales of Real Estate.” Under Statement No. 66,
recognition of revenue and costs must be deferred until 20% of the
property sale price has been collected.

For pre-need sales of merchandise, primarily vaults and
markers, the associated revenue and all costs to acquire them are
deferred until the merchandise is delivered or certain conditions
are met.

For pre-need sales of markers, the associated revenue and all
costs will be recognized when the marker has been cast/manufac-
tured and engraved for the customer, title and risk of loss has been
transferred to the customer, the customer obtains a certificate of
ownership and the marker has been attached to the realty of the
cemetery or at the request of the customer, the marker has been
properly segregated, identified by the customer and stored in an
acceptable manner.

Multiple element arrangements and service fee revenue are
recognized using timing appropriate to each individual element.
Service fee revenue, including delivery and installation fees or
grave opening and closing fees, are not recognized prior to the
time the services are performed.

Cemetery merchandise trust earnings are deferred until the
underlying merchandise is delivered. The revenue is included in
the prearranged deferred revenue line item on the balance sheet.

The customer contract receivables and deferred revenue asso-
ciated with prearranged cemetery contracts are recognized in the
Company’s balance sheet as prearranged receivables and pre-
arranged deferred revenue at the date a customer contract is
signed provided they meet the definitions of assets and obligations
as set forth in Statement of Financial Concepts No. 6, “Elements of
Financial Statements” (CON6) and satisfy the fundamental recog-
nition criteria set forth in Statement of Financial Concepts No. 5,
“Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of
Business Enterprises” (CONS5).

With respect to the sale of cemetery property, whether pre-
need or at-need, the Company is generally required by state law to
place into a perpetual care trust, a portion, usually 10 percent, of
the proceeds it receives in order to fund maintenance of the ceme-
tery grounds. As payments are received, the Company generally
funds the perpetual care trust in the same proportion as the pay-
ment bears to the contract amount. The Company recognizes the
earnings on its perpetual care trust funds as they are realized in the
trust and withdraws the earnings on these funds to use towards the
maintenance of its cemeteries, but principal must generally be held
in the trust in perpetuity. Principal in these funds is not reflected
on the balance sheet because the principal must remain in the trust
in perpetuity.

The Company does not require collateral or other security on
trade receivables. The credit risk on trade receivables is controlled
by requiring significant deposits. The Company continuously
monitors outstanding trade receivables.




N. Prearranged Receivables

Prearranged receivables are comprised of funds owed to the
Company for the pre-need sale of funeral and cemetery merchan-
dise and services. These funds are due from trust funds, which rep-
resent amounts already paid by customers and realized earnings
on those amounts and due from customers.

0. Common Stock

The Company has two classes of common stock outstanding, Class
A and Class B. The shares of Class A common stock and Class B
common stock differ with respect to voting rights and certain con-
version rights, as described below:

Voting Rights — Each share of Class A common stock entitles
the holder to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote of the
Company’s stockholders and each share of Class B common stock
entitles the holder to ten votes on each such matter, in each case
including the election of directors. Neither the Class A common
stock nor the Class B common stock has cumulative voting rights.

Conversion — Class A common stock has no conversion
rights. Class B common stock is convertible into Class A common
stock, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time at the
option of the holder on the basis of one share of Class A common
stock for each share of Class B common stock converted. Each
share of Class B common stock will also automatically convert into
one share of Class A common stock upon transfer to any person or
entity other than a Permitted Transferee, as defined in the
Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

P.  Net Income Per Share

Net income per share, or basic earnings per share, is computed by
dividing earnings available for common shares by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during each year.
Net income per share - diluted, or diluted earnings per share, is
computed by dividing earnings available for common shares by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding dur-
ing each year, adjusted to include the additional number of com-
mon shares that would have been outstanding if the dilutive
potential common shares had been issued. Potential common
shares are not included in the diluted earnings per share calcula-
tions where the effect of their inclusion would be antidilutive.

Q. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income, cumulative
translation adjustment, and a pension minimum liability adjust-
ment and is presented in the consolidated statements of stock-
holders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss).

Minimum Accumulated
Foreign Pension Other
Currency Liability Comprehensive
Items Adjustment Income
Balance at
December 31,2000 .... $(392,322) $ — $ (392,322}
Changes in2001 ...... (396,382) (158,997) (555,379)
Balance at
December 31,2001 .... (788,704) (158,997) (947,701)
Changesin 2002 ...... 32,684  (1,648,199) (1,615,515)
Balance at
December 31,2002 .... $(756,020) $(1,807,196) $(2,563,216)

R. Investments

Investment in the common stock of an affiliated company is
accounted for by the equity method. The Company would recog-
nize a loss when there is a loss in value in the investment, which is
other than a temporary decline.

Investment in an affiliated company consists of a one-third
equity interest in VIKA Ltd., a Ukrainian closed stock company
that owns rights to a quarry stone known as “Galactic Blue” on
certain property located in Zhytomir, Ukraine.

S. Recent Accounting Pronouncerents

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
issued Statement No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No.’s 4,
44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13 and Technical
Corrections”, effective for fiscal years beginning May 15, 2002 or
later. It rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses From
Extinguishments of Debt,” SFAS No. 64, “Extinguishments of Debt
to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements,” and SFAS No. 44,
“Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers.” This
Statement also amends SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases” to
eliminate an inconsistency between the required accounting for
sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain
lease modifications that have economic effects that are similar to
sale-leaseback transactions. This Statement also amends other
existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical
corrections, clarify meanings or describe their applicability under
changed conditions. The Company does not believe the impact of
adopting SFAS No. 145 will have a material impact on its financial
statements.

In June 2002 the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for
Costs Associated With Exit or Disposal Activities.” SFAS No. 146
requires companies to recognize costs associated with exit or dis-
posal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of
commitment to an exit or disposal plan. This statement is effective
for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The
Company is assessing the impact adoption of SFAS No. 146 will
have on its financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No.
45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
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Others” (“FIN 457). FIN 45 requires that upon issuance of a guar-
antee, a guarantor must recognize a liability for the fair value of an
obligation assumed under a guarantee. FIN 45 also requires addi-
tional disclosures by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial
statements about the obligations associated with guarantees issued.
The recognition provisions of FIN 45 will be effective for any guar-
antees that are issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The
disclosure requirements will be effective for the Company’s second
quarter of fiscal 2003. Management does not expect the adoption
of FIN 45 to have a material impact on the Company’s financial
position or results of opérations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and
Disclosure-an Amendment of SFAS 123.” SFAS No. 148 provides
additional transition guidance for those entities that elect to volun-
tarily adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation.” Furthermore, SFAS No. 148 mandates new
disclosures in both interim and year-end financial statements of the
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation
and the effect of the method used on reported results. The adop-
tion of SFAS No. 148 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial position or results of operation.

2. Intangibles
Intangibles consist of the following at December 31, 2002 and
2001:

Estimated
Useful Life 2002 2001
Names and reputations ........ 40 Years $ — $38,077,388
Covenants not to compete.... 5-11 Years 1,057,223 955,100
Trademarks and other ........... 5-40 Years — 127,314
— 39,159,802
Less accumulated
amortization ... 482,873 4,667,568
Total...covieeesinens $574,350 $34,492,234

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and other
Intangible Assets. The Company has adopted SFAS 142 as of
January 1, 2002. SFAS 142 requires goodwill and other intangible
assets with indefinite lives to no longer be amortized, but instead
be tested for impairment at least annually.

With the adoption of SFAS 142, the Company reassessed the
useful lives and residual values of all acquired intangible assets to
make any necessary amortization period adjustments. Based on
that assessment, no adjustments were made to the amortization
period or residual values of other intangible assets.

SFAS 142 provides a six-month transitional period from the
effective date of adoption for the Company to perform an assess-
ment of whether there is an indication that goodwill is impaired.
To the extent that an indication of impairment exists, the
Company must perform a second test to measure the amount of
impairment. The Company has two reporting units with good-

will, Retail and Cemetery, which are also reportable segments. The
Company determined the fair value of each of these reporting
units using a discounted cash flow analysis and compared such
values to the respective reporting units carrying amounts. This
evaluation indicated that goodwill recorded in the Retail and
Cemetery segments was impaired as of January 1, 2002. As a
result, the Company completed the second step of the goodwill
impairment test to measure the amount of the impairment loss.
Accordingly, the Company recognized a $34 million non-cash
charge, recorded as of January 1, 2002, as the cumulative effect of
a change in accounting principle for the write-down of goodwill to
its fair value. Approximately $19 million of the goodwill write-
down is deductible for taxes, therefore a deferred tax asset of $5.3
million has been recorded.

Conditions that contributed to the goodwill impairment in
Retail were an underestimation of the amount of time required to
fully integrate the branding strategy through the retail network
and the difficulty in increasing profitability to the extent anticipat-
ed prior to acquisition. Conditions that contributed to the good-
will impairment in Cemeteries were lower than expected revenues
and greater selling and administrative costs, which the Company
believes are, to some extent, temporary but are significant enough
to affect the fair value determination.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year
ended December 31, 2002 are as follows:

($ in thousands)
Retail Cemetery Total
Balance as of December 31, 2001.... $32,542  §1,239 §$ 33,782

Impairment 108S.......erreceeesnnnnnns (32,542)  (1,239) © (33,782)
Balance as of December 31,2002.... $ — $ — & —

Amortization expense was $136,343 in 2002, $1,340,990 in 2001 and
$1,412,235 in 2000.
Estimated fiscal year amortization expense is as follows:

Year..ioerreerenins (in thousands)
2003, 138
2004, 29
2005 19
2006, 16
2007 e 15

The following table reconciles the prior year’s reported operating
income, earnings before the cumulative effect of changes in
accounting principles and net income to their respective pro
forma balances adjusted to exclude amortization of goodwill
which is no longer amortized and to adjust for the change in
method of accounting for quarry inventory. Current period
results, adjusted for the cumulative effect of changes in accounting
principles, are presented for comparative purposes.




Qperating Income

INCOME fTOM OPEIALIONS wuvvvvevrerreerscrrcesmnecsisncssssnesiensessensessssssesssssesssnsesssenees
Add back: goodwill amOrtization ...
Adjusted OPETAtING INCOME ..ucvvvmuvucrmrrreerreeseesiiecemsessenssessenmissesesssessmesssssresscsssssesssnssssnnns

Earnings Before Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle

Net income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Add back: goodwill amortization net of tax effect .......conncrmriencrinceninns
Adjusted earnings before change in accounting principle.........occomeromerernecennnne

Net Income (Loss)

Reported net income (Loss) e et ee e
Add back: goodwill amortization net of tax effect ..........c.cccoccivnerirriricinnennes

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle net of tax

EffECt-SFAS 142 .ot ers st essss s sassssse e snnssis
Adjusted DO INCOME ...cvvvceriirercrreeecrneris et s sstseesesesssers s

Basic Earnings Per Share

Reported net inCome (LOSS) ......eereerurrecemmmeemmiinecsmmrcesseeneessmsessenmesssesssesssmssssesssssson
Goodwill amortization net of taX effect......c.omnrnierinciremmers e
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle net of tax effect......c.occeruneeee.
AdJUStEd NEt INCOME ..vvvuceiveiarieierciriesireericss e ereesesssecs s esssensesesense s sssns

Diluted Farnings Per Share

Reported net inComE (LOSS) ... ruerrenrirrrsrsenarneessesissssssesssessesssessssssssesssssssessersesens
Goodwill amortization net of taX effect. ...,
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle net of tax effect......cccoovconenncs
Adjusted Nt INCOME ... esesse st sessssreseens

Twelve Months Ended

December 30,
2002 2001 2000
$ 5,960 $3,807 $5,897
— 1,003 1,112
$ 5,960 $4,810 7,009
$ 3,795 $ 433 2,463
— 839 883
$ 3,795 $1,272 3,346
$(24,915) $ 433 $2,463
— 839 883
28,430 — —
$ 3,515 $1,272 3,346
$ (3.17) $ 006 0.33
— 0.11 0.12
3.62 — —
$ 0.45 $ 0.17 0.45
$ (3.16) $ 0.06 0.33
— 0.11 0.12
3.61 — —
$ 0.45 $ 0.17 045
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7, PSR
3. Inveniories
Inventories consist of the following at December 31, 2002 and
2001:

2002 2001
Rawmatertals .............. $ 9,847,285 $ 9,949,781
Work-in-process . ........... 1,421,296 1,536,417
Finished goods and supplies .. 10,385,806 11,193,989

$21,654,387 $22,680,187

In December 2002, the Company changed its method of account-
ing for its quarrying inventory from the first-in, first-out method
to the specific annual average cost method. The Company believes
this change is preferable because it more accurately measures the
cost of the Company’s quarry inventory and more accurately
matches quarrying costs with revenues resulting in an enhanced
measurement of operating results. In accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, the Company implemented this
change retroactively to January 1, 2002. The cumulative effect of
the accounting change decreased retained earnings at January 1,
2002 by $280,521 (after reduction for income taxes of $107,000)
and is included in net income in 2002. The effect of the change in
2002 was to decrease income before cumulative change in
accounting principle by approximately $573,928 or $0.07 per
share (after reduction for income taxes of $215,519). Additional
pro forma disclosures of the impact of the change in fiscal years
2001 and 2000 as required under Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes” are shown on the consoli-
dated statements of operations.

The effect of the change on the first, second and third quar-
ters of 2002 is shown in note 12.

/ﬁ A anx‘ Ly 7 / /,w‘Hm ;
4. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases
The Company has several noncancellable operating leases for vehi-
cles, equipment and office space that expire over the next five
years. Rental expense for all operating leases was $1,149,537,
$1,221,751 and $1,222,011 during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively. Rental expense includes amounts for related party operating
leases of $516,491, $419,569 and $618,947 in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancellable oper-
ating leases (with initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one
year) are as follows:

Year Ended December 31: Related
Party Other

2003 .o $337,641 § 697,622
2004 ..o 175,551 482,888
2005 e, 101,633 360,587
2000 e 24,833 311,962
2007 e 20,844 241,974
Thereafter....c.ooveevverenn. — —

$660,502  $2,095,033

The Company also is the lessor of various parcels of land. Rental
income was $68,645, $33,341 and $45,771 in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. Future minimum rentals to be received under
noncancellable leases are as follows:

Year Ended December 31:

2003 .o $ 41,680
2004 36,510
2005 s 24,036
2006 .. 23,961
2007 oo, 5,991

$132,178

Purchase Commitment

In connection with the Lawson sale (see note 17), the Company
entered into a Supply Agreement with Adams Granite Co. The
Company has agreed to purchase a minimum of $3,000,000 of
monuments from Adams Granite each year for a term of seven
years with various stipulations as to variations from the “mini-
mum order” and pricing agreements. If orders over a two-year
period are less than the “minimum order,” then the Company
shall, at its sole option either place orders for monuments in the
amount of the deficiency; or pay to Adams the gross margin that
Adams would have realized had such orders been placed and filled.
The gross margin used in this calculation will be Adams’ average
gross margin on sales of monuments to the Company over the
prior two-year period.

Litigation

The Company is party to legal proceedings that arise from time to
time in the ordinary course of its business. While the outcome of
these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, manage-
ment does not expect these matters to have a material adverse
effect on the Company. One of the litigation items outstanding is
a request for Arbitration (“Request”) from its former distributor
outside the United States, Eurimex, S. A. (now known as Granite
Stone Business International) in connection with the termination
by the Company of the distribution agreement for the Company’s




Salisbury Pink granite. Eurimex has also claimed damages in con-
nection with a distribution agreement for the Company’s Bethel
White granite, which agreement expired by its terms in 1998.
Pursuant to those agreements, the arbitration will take place under
the International Chamber of Commerce rules and will be held in
Luxembourg.

The Request includes claims by Eurimex that the Company
wrongfully terminated the Salisbury Pink and Bethel White agree-
ments. The Request also alleges that the Company violated
antitrust laws under the European Community Treaty and United
States antitrust laws. Eurimex has alleged that it has suffered
damages in excess of $30 million, and will seek to have such dam-
ages trebled under U.S. antitrust laws. (In subsequent pre-hearing
submissions, however, Eurimex asserted damages of approximate-
ly $25.3 million, plus interest, “moral” damages, attorney’s fees and
costs.)

The Company denies all of Eurimex’s allegations and further
states that it believes that Eurimex has engaged in improper or
unlawful practices in the sale of the Company’s products. The
Company has answered Eurimex’s Request and has brought cer-
tain counterclaims against Eurimex, including a claim for frivolous
action. A preliminary scheduling conference was held on October
2, 2001 and both arbitral and subject matter jurisdictional issues
were briefed. A second hearing on further procedural issues and
jurisdiction was held on March 13,2002. On July 1, 2002, the arbi-
tral tribunal rendered a decision on the arbitral jurisdictional
issues and found that it has arbitral jurisdiction over all of the
claims brought by Eurimex. The tribunal deferred ruling on
whether it has subject matter jurisdiction over the claimant’s U.S.
antitrust law claims. Having completed the process, the parties are
now in the process of briefing their respective positions. On March
11, 2003, after the Company filed its First Pre-Hearing
Submission, Eurimex withdrew all of its U.S. antitrust law claims.
A hearing on the merits of the dispute is scheduled to be held in
May 2003. The Company denies liability and will continue to vig-
orously defend the claims made by Eurimex. However, if the arbi-
tral tribunal were to decide in favor of Eurimex, and award sub-
stantial damages, the Company’s business and financial condition
would likely be adversely affected.

5. Lines of Credit

In 2002 the Company renegotiated its financing agreement with
the CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., which provides for an acqui-
sition term loan line of credit of $30 million and a revolving cred-
it facility of an additional $20 million. Fifty percent of each facili-
ty has been assigned to Fleet Boston, The Company currently has
one term loan outstanding (term loan A) in the amount of $12.5
million, however, the agreement allows for additional term loans
limited to two per calendar quarter of at least $500,000 each up to
amaximum term loan line of credit of $30 million. Such loans and
advances under the revolving credit facility are limited to $20 mil-
lion based on outstanding eligible accounts receivable, eligible
inventory, and a certain amount of eligible fixed assets. The inter-
est rates on the term loan and revolving loan are affected by the
Company’s Funded Debt to Net Worth ratio. The Company is cur-
rently at the lowest rates possible under the facility.

The interest rate on the term loans is based on a formula of
prime less 0.25% or, at the Company’s election, the sum of 1.75%
plus LIBOR. For the revolving credit facility the interest rate is
based on the formula of prime less 0.50%, or at the Company’s
election, the sum of 1.50% plus LIBOR. For both the term and
revolving facilities, if the LIBOR option is chosen, the Company
must specify the amount and duration (30, 60 or 90 days) that the
debt will be subject to the LIBOR based rate and is obligated to pay
the interest on the specified amount, even if the actual debt out-
standing subsequently decreases below that specified amount. No
more than four LIBOR elections may be in effect at any one time.

Fees include a one-time fee of $135,000 (which was paid in
full in 2002), an unused line fee whose rate is determined by the
Company’s Funded Debt to Net Worth and calculated on the
unused portion of the revolving credit facility only and a collater-
al management fee of $1,000 per month. Amounts outstanding
were $4,385,486 and $12,500,000 and $0 as of December 31, 2002
and $3,970,402 and $12,500,000 and $1,942,351 as of December
31,2001 on the revolving credit facility, term loan A and term loan
B, respectively. The weighted interest rated was 4.13% and 7.25%
on the revolving credit facility in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company’s Canadian subsidiary also has a line of credit
agreement with a lending institution. Under the terms of this
agreement, a maximum of approximately $4,000,000 CDN may be
advanced based on percentages of eligible accounts receivable, eli-
gible inventory, and tangible fixed assets. The line of credit agree-
ment will be reviewed at least annually for any revisions to the
agreement, bears interest at the U.S. prime rate plus .25%, and is
secured by substantially all assets of the subsidiary. There were no
amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2002 and 2001.
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6. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt at December 31, 2002 and 2001 consists of the following:

2002 2001

Term loan, interest at 3.17% and 3.61% in 2002 and 2001, respectively (see note 5), due December 2007,

secured by substantially all assets of the Company .........c..cccvneenns

..................................................................... $12,500,000 $12,500,000

Term loan, interest at 3.86% in 2001 (see note 5) payable in quarterly installments of $212,000 with a final

balloon payment due December 2002, secured by substantially all assets of the Company........ccooeccccunevvueen. —

1,942,351

Note payable — Dutton, interest at 6%, payable in monthly principal and interest payments of $674,

unsecured, due December 2003......ccvveieeirinvneenereeeessecsnies

7,868 15,243

Note payable — Plante, interest at 8%, payable in monthly payments of $2,593 beginning February 2001,

unsecured, due January 2021 ........cc.covcvencrnencenecissiieennnnes

Note payable — Anderson, payable with granite inventory at a set sales price of $14.50 per cubic foot

at maximum sales of 1,500 cubic foot per month......c..ccoecuerrennen.

Note payable - GMAC, interest at 0%, payable in monthly installments of $994, due November 2005,

Secured By eqQUIPTIENL.....ccrcieriiiinsis s seenenssessonissssssreessenns

Note payable - GMAC, interest at 4.9%, payable in monthly installments of $439, due February 2002,

secured by qQUIPMENT......ccoivcciini s

Note payable - GMAC, interest at 2.9%, payable in monthly installments of $716, due October 2002,

secured by eqUIPMENT......ccrimeiinriincecc e

Note payable — Audi Financial Services, interest at 2%, payable in monthly installments of $1,679,

due February 2004, secured by eqUIpMeNt......oo.veerrecermrcercrmrcenenens

Note payable — Toyota Financial Services, interest at 2.65%, payable in monthly installments of $467,

due July 2005, secured by equipment...........coocuveerirvereerrensironcenns

Note payable — Ford Motor Credit Corp., interest at 2.9%, payable in monthly installments of $392,

due September 2002, secured by equIpment......civrcrievecrrenees

Note payable - GMAC, interest at 0%, payable in monthly instaliments of $797, due October 2004,

secured DY @QUIPMENL covuvvvrvincririini e

Less current INStallments.....oeioieeecneeineeeeesereseseeesessiseens

Long-term debt, excluding current installments .........ccoc.u......

Future maturities of the December 31, 2002 long-term debt are as
follows:

Year Ended December 31:

2003 o $ 2055311
2004 oo 37,835
2005 1o 23,189
2000 v 9,762
2007 oo 12,510,572
Thereafter .....cocovcerrrnrenrenn. 250,997

$13,037,666

7. Bair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures About the Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,” requires disclosure of information about the fair
value of certain financial instruments for which it is practicable
to estimate that value. For purposes of the following disclosure

..................................................................... 296,352 303,448
..................................................................... 143,106 193,490
..................................................................... 34,795 —
..................................................................... — 874
..................................................................... — 7,070
..................................................................... 23,256 —
..................................................................... 13,974 —
..................................................................... — 3,462
..................................................................... 18,315 27,877

13,037,666 14,993,815
..................................................................... 205,312 14,671,315
..................................................................... $12,832,354 § 322,500

The financing agreements with banks contain various restrictive
covenants with respect to the maintenance of financial ratios, capi-
tal additions, and other items. As of December 31, 2002 the
Company was in compliance with all such covenants.

the fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which
the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties other than in a forced sale or liquida-
tion. Management has determined that the carrying values of
its financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value at
December 31, 2002.




8. fnicome Taxes

Income before provision for income taxes, classified by source of income for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was as follows:

2002 2001 2000
U S ettt et o ra ot a s R et e seRe st e ea e r s s e et e st en e saes $(30,038,239) $ 830,666 $2,555,670
FOTEIGI oottt cit et sets bbbt etk R sttt 1,090,791 1,218,512 1,198,590
Income before provision for INCOME TAXES ...vveuerecemrererincrisemminrerscirenseses e ensessesessessesess $(28,947,448) $2,049,178 $3,754,260

A summary of the significant components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31,2002, 2001 and 2000 is as follows:

Current
s 15 1 OO OO OOV RUROVUONOO $381,059  $1,094,764  $233,446
SEALE c1rvevvii ittt b e bbbt bbb e s e bR RR AR e RS r bRt bebes sttt obanasanas 183,123 191,057 197,003
FOTRIZN ovooreeercrrcrcnccr ettt st sns s s st onn s 373,950 402,276 407,938
938,132 1,688,097 838,387
Deferred:
FOACTAL ..ottt s s s b e st s s sen e nebenn e bees 320,172 (23,072) 295,969
SEALE vttt ettt ettt b bbbt st eb R bbb e e b e Rt e rer e aeae bbbt s 172,400 (12,462) 159,873
FOTEIGI covvrcvenriercricricrcsncsiente et ambe s s e et (3,790) (36,163) (3,465)
488,782 (71,697) 452377
Total provision for INCOME TAXES.......ewmeeermeereermrersemsnseisseresereiesisse et siessssessssseserense 1,426,914 1,616,400 1,290,764
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ... (5,459,151) — —
Total Provision fOr INCOIMIE TAXES ......everrerereecsreees ersreesessssesereesssesssessssse st et ssestessssssssesessssens $ (4,032,237) $1,616,400 $1,290,764
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, are presented below: 2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:

Accrued pension, accrued post-retirement benefit cost and deferred compensation............ocvevrrcnineee.
Allowance for doubtUl ACCOUNTS cvv.uuevrnrvrreei e rerssert st sermssermrenseantsereseesssessesssssiisosssscns
ACCTULH EXPEIISES wevvvvvrevrrimiccrmmcierrresesmmesesissecmssasessanesessssesess s sassbess bbb B3 bbb bbb
Inventories, principally due to additional costs inventoried for tax purposes pursuant

t0 the Tax Reform ACt 0f 1986 ... sssssssssessnsssessssess
Prearranged deferred reVENUE .........cvmmevriininnicensnis sttt sscsssss e ies st sssensses
Names aNd TEPULALIONS .c.vuvvvreeercereersreesecmsiersneeseseersesrmsesssessesressssssesssamssesesresssenssecssssssnssesssssssssssmssssssssons
Alternative MINIMUM taX CLEAIS c...uvrererermecriernricnemmiesies st s ssssnssias
State net OPerating lOSS CAITYOVELS c..mvuurrercroceermecircrmamiecreee et sossssssessssessssssess

Total gross deferred tax ASSELS ... vumuriimrismesii s sisssesisss st sses s sensess s sis s s s
1655 VAlUATION ALIOWAINICE oot st sts st bt a st ss e s st s et s s s st eses s bnssssntsten

TOtal NEL AEIETTEA LAX BSOS ruirieerereeeesir et st osse sttt sbassssstssssssessssssasssssbesssrssssssanbessssasnssas

Deferred tax liabilities:
COIMBLETY DIOPETLY «.revvvireceserusiesrestrsececsiessstse et essi et s sses s s es et bee s sre s e s st st sne s seses
QUATTY dEVEIOPIMENT...corveitcriee ettt ettt e ettt st
NAIMES AN FEPULATIONS e vveerrmeererieserieeresiieessrecssssss et srecsssassecssnesese s en et s e ss s ses et bbbt snesseentsseins
Other HaDIIEIES .......vcoriceiiiiensiiicsimes s siss it sss s ss s ssas bbb es et s
Property and eQUIPIMENE. .o . ivueeiimcernecrircasemmesesssseeesseeraseresssessesseessssessessessnessssseseseassssessecsssessssessssnens

Total gross deferred tax Habilities. ...

INEt AELEITEA TAX ASSELS vuvvrveieiiirieireriereret ettt sres st st eb e tsssasbessbob st ere st sssssessassebosarsras sebsessashetenetssastotis

$2,046,000 $1,416,000

237,000 280,000
472,000 428,000
381,000 434,000
3,024,000 3,654,000
4,027,000 —
3,878,000 3,898,000
467,000 481,000
14,532,000 10,591,000

(4,638,000) (4,904,000)

9,894,000 5,687,000

(1,617,000) (2,134,000)
(360,000)  (376,000)
(789,000)

(55,000)  (195,000)
(753,000)  (626,000)

(2,785,000) (4,120,000)

$7,109,000 $1,567,000
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SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires a valuation
allowance against deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of
available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets include
significant alternative minimum tax credit carry forwards that have
been fully reserved and may be carried forward indefinitely.
Utilization of these alternative minimum tax credits is limited to
future federal income tax in excess of the alternative minimum tax.
Deferred tax assets also include state net operating loss carryovers,
which have been fully reserved due to uncertainties regarding
sufficient future state taxable income to utilize the carryovers.
Management believes that it is more likely than not that the results
of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to
realize the net deferred tax assets.

The net deferred tax expense differs from the change in the net
deferred tax assets as a result $5,352,151 reflected as a change in
accounting principle for goodwill and $678,631 reflected in other
comprehensive income {loss).

A reconciliation of differences between the statutory U.S.
federal income tax rate, on income before provision for income
taxes and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, and
the Company’s effective tax rate follows:

7 T i~
A~

i PP - o -(—F, o e s e o
9. Pension and otner benejis

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan covering substan-
tially all of its Vermont-based non-union employees. The benefits
are based on years of service and the employee’s compensation. The
cost of this program is being funded currently.

The Company has a salary continuation plan that covers cer-
tain employees who have deferred compensation agreements with
the Company. The Company measures the costs of its obligations
based on actuarial estimates. The net periodic costs are recognized

2002 2001 2000

“ULS. StAtULOTY TAte wovvvereeermmmesmeriserenererenee 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%
State taxes, net of federal benefit........... 45% 58% 6.3%
Names and reputations........eceereveneee — 7.7% 10.7%
DIVESHIEUIES «.ecvvvevrrreeerrecenensecernesersesenennce — 62.0% —
Change in valuation allowance.............. (5.1%) 35.7% 22.0%

Other, primarily tax depletion............... (6.1%) (66.3%) (38.6%)

Effective tax rate....comvvvcercererneeonne 273% 789% 34.4%

Deferred taxes have not been provided on the undistributed
earnings of the Company’s wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary
since the Company can control the distribution of such earnings
and has determined that such earnings will be reinvested indefinite-
ly. Additional taxes could be due if these earnings were distributed.
During 2002, the Company received a $1,525,188 cash distribution
from the Canadian subsidiary. No incremental U.S. taxes were
due on this distribution as a result of available foreign tax credits
and state tax losses.

as employees render the necessary services to earn the deferred
compensation benefits.

The Company also sponsors a defined benefit post-retirement
health care plan for certain early retirees and defined benefit post-
retirement group life insurance plans for all Vermont-based union
and non-union employees. The Company measures the costs of its
obligation based on actuarial estimates. The net periodic costs are
recognized as retirees and employees render the services necessary
to earn the post-retirement benefits.




Non-Union Pension Benefits Deferred Compensation Benefits Other Benefits

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001
CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Benefit obligation at beginning of year .......c......... $17,891,727 $17,186,365 $ 2,354,092 $1,833,950 $ 1,716,638 $ 1,720,110
Transfer of Obligation........coovvvvervrnrecnrcrnerierenrinns — — 1,579,778 — — —
SEIVICE COSE vuvrmrmirivmimiiirisiee et sesea s tses s benesas 474,830 434,532 34,528 30,374 15,916 21,488
INLErest COSt i etreer e 1,246,009 1,229,210 278,454 162,798 106,745 116,099
Actuarial (gain)/10SS ...veerrerrcerreeernreerreirseerneceserineens 991,425 (1,262) 182,417 433,218 (44,396) (13,892)
Benefits paid......ccccomiuerrnnreniinienree e (1,111,583) (957,118) (282,552)  (106,248) (115,388)  (127,167)
Benefit obligation at end of year ........cc.cconeveonnerenne. $19,492,408 $17,891,727 $ 4,146,717 $2,354,092 $ 1,679,515 $ 1,716,638
CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ........ $15,237,895 $16,329,219 § — 3 — $ — 3 —
Actual return on plan assets .......coowereeerevvererenneennnes (1,380,533)  (634,206) — — (15,020) —
Employer contribution ........c.ceeoremvcnvermrecenmecenee 1,415,803 500,000 282,552 106,248 130,408 127,167
Benefits 223U OO P SO R (1,111,583) (957,118) (282,552)  (106,248) {115,388) (127,167)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year ................... $14,161,582 $15,237,895 $ — § — 8 — § —
FUnded Stattis...ecvvecrvereseiresseneesee s eseneees $(5,330,826) $(2,653,832) $(4,146,717) $(2,354,092) $(1,679,515) $(1,716,638)
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain)/10ss.......cceunnnee. 4,720,331 986,922 470,398 287,981 150,539 179,915
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost.....crernrmmeene. 969,986 1,110,509 104,642 217,086 — —
Unrecognized transition obligation...........c.covveeen. 61,170 165,414 — 4,783 694,494 757,630
Net amount reCOZNIZed. ..o rmrveernrererserneerinnnnnes $420,661 § (390,987) $(3,571,677) $(1,844,242) $ (834,482) $ (779,093)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consists of:

Accrued benefit Hability .oo.ovevvevvcenrerinerinnrinnn. $(2,690,765) $ (390,987) $(4,081,876) $(2,225,108) $ (834,482) $ (779,093)
INtangible asset.......vvmreerernecrrrienemrecreersenseenns 1,031,156 — 104,642 221,869 — —
Minimum liability adjustment ..........ccccouuvecnne. 1,512,356 — 294,840 158,997 — —
Net amount recognized........eevrreceermeernersecrsnnes $ (147,253) $ (390,987) $(3,682,394) $(1,844,242) $ (834,482) $ (779,093)

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS AS OF DECEMBER 31:

DISCOURNE TALE....ooviivscrerrreeemresernecseniecimissensnsenes 6.75% 7.25% 6.75% 7.25% 6.75% 7.00%
Expected return on plan assets.....c....ccccoovmevernncenens 9.00% 9.00% N/A N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation INCIEASE. ..o ecerrersvcsneerees 4.00% 5.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.00% 4.50%

For measurement purposes, a 10% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2002, 9%
for 2003, 8% for 2004, 7% for 2005, 6% for 2006 and 5% thereafter.
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Non-Union Pension Benefits
2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

2002 2001

Deferred Compensation Benefits Other Benefits

COMPONENTS OF NET
PERIODIC BENEFIT COST
SEIVICE COSLuvninniriininrirnrsneiseisssseiseesensenns

$ 474,830 $ 434,532 $ 442,750

$ 34,528 $ 30,374 § 62,488 § 15916 $ 21,488$ 24,962

INEIeSt COSt..uvvirmmrrrmrrrisrirriserrersernsnses 1,246,009 1,229,210 1,200,929 278,454 162,798 115,417 106,745 116,099 105,484
Expected return on plan assets ............ (1,361,451) (1,446,000) (1,458,621) — — — — — —
Amortization of prior service cost......... 140,523 130,404 130,404 112,444 112,444 24,263 — — —
Amortization of transition obligation... 104,244 104,244 104,244 4,783 6,165 6,165 63,136 63,136 63,136
Recognized net actuarial (gain)/loss...... — — (37,644) — 20,766 — — — —

Net periodic benefit cost......cccoouurrvvvverrncn.

$ 604,155 § 452,390 § 382,062

$430,209 $332,547 $208,333  $185,797 $200,723 $193,582

The Company has multiple post-retirement benefit plans., The
health care plan covers a closed group of retirees selected by the
Company and benefits for all but two of the participants cease at age
65. The life insurance plan covers all Vermont-based employees;
non-union employee coverage is 50% of the group insurance cover-
age that the employee had prior to retirement (but not more than
$60,000) and union employee coverage is $6,000. The life insurance
plan assumes a 4.50% rate of compensation increase for all years.

Assumed health care trends do not have a significant effect on
the amounts reported for the health care plan.

Union Pension Benefits

In July 1999, Vermont-based union employees became participants
in Steelworkers Pension Trust. The Company contributes amounts
as required by the union contract.

In 1998, Vermont-based union employees participated in a
multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. The Company con-
tributed amounts as required by the union contract. The amount
charged to operations in the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations was $469,499, $620,066 and $641,358 in 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Benefits

In addition to the deferred compensation benefits under its salary
continuation plan, the Company has deferred compensation agree-
ments with certain employees including former stockholders of
acquired companies. The present value of the future payments under
these agreements was $709,450, $714,871 and $725,110 as of
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Total annual pay-
ments of $222,748 begin and end at various dates from 1997 to 2016.
One of these agreements is partially paid through benefits paid by
the Company into the defined pension plan, therefore the payment
amount changes annually based on actuarial estimates.

The Company also offers a deferred salary plan to key employ-
ees, which currently has two participants. The present value of future
payments under these agreements was $179,637 at December 31,
2002.

The Rock of Ages Canadian subsidiary has deferred compensa-
tion agreements with three former employees. The present value of
the future payments under these agreements is $181,382 as of
December 31, 2002. Total annual payments of $36,324 begin and
end at various dates through 2023.

401K Benefits
The Company’s contributions were $200,119, $311,582 and
$104,032 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Acquisitions during
2001 and 2000 have significantly increased the number of partici-
pants in the plans.




10. Stock-Based Employee Compensation

Under the terms of the Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Plan, 1,500,000 options were reserved for issuance to key employees and directors
to purchase equivalent shares of common stock. The options granted prior to 1999 have a five-year term and vest at 20% per year and options
granted in 1999 and 2000 have a four-year term and vest at 25% per year and options granted in 2002 have a 10-year term and vest at 20%

per year after the first year.

The following table sets forth the stock option transactions for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

Number of Options Weighted-Average Exercise Price
Outstanding, December 31, 1999 ........comvmmmcrcimerscnecmsesmesssnseessenes 530,400 $4.04
Granted during 2000........cccuvermeemcrmmnmeeeemmeesinemsmnesesmriesesmmsesssesssnecses 392,500 494
Exercised during 2000...........ccceuerremmcremmmremmiceeresmmmieesmmmsssmecsssensesss (5,500) (3.74)
Surrendered during 2000........comecicemmeerecmminsirsiisnmeseressens (84,318) (3.61)
Outstanding, December 31, 2000 .......ccoovrreirienrmcrnnrirecmmeerseenesreassissecsmenne 833,082 $4.45
Granted dUIing 2001..........cvueeeirmveemmmmesnerreessemrecnsemiseessmmesecesmsessessssssssssesessnsess — —
Exercised during 2001.........conceerinmeernemminrimseesoneessensisressmessssnsssssseesssssens (320,582) (3.70)
Surrendered dUring 2001........ccveremmeemernmenmecsienemmissroressmmisnsesecssersees (95,000) (3.81)
Outstanding, December 31, 2001 .....oocuvvvimmecrimcrmnisscimcsimcnenmsssissssnaes 417,500 $5.16
Granted dUring 2002.........cccirmerermecmmieeremsrsomsisesscroeeroesssssesessnees 355,000 598
Exercised during 2002........ccccrivmvrermnceccnssssisisessmmenessessesssssissosssses (50,002) (4.58)
Surrendered during 2002........cocccomecemririrerrcecneereessinee (188,333) (5.27)
Outstanding, December 31, 2002 .....ccccvvuriermimnmins e 534,165 $5.86
Exercisable, December 31, 2002 ....cvivocrieireisirireeeireereessiesssisssssssssssosessesssessesonss 161,349 $5.86
Weighted average remaining contractual life...........ccccomvcrmrnnecrorcrnnccimcinnn. 5.7 years
Weighted Average Options Exercisable

Number of Exercise Price Remaining Number Weighted Average
Options Contractual Exercise Price
Exercise Price Outstanding - Life
B9 oo 214,165 $4.94 1.5 Years 141,349 $4.94
$3.98 . 295,000 $5.98 10 Years — $5.98
$12.38 et 25,000 $12.38 1 Year 20,000 $12.38
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11. Related Party Transactions
The Company is related through common ownership with several companies. The transactions with related parties, included in the consol-
idated statements of operations, are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000

INEE TEVETILES .. estseteesereereeseeeseseatssstsessaeaesssesmaraeesesses st seetsesestatsnesaenmeseesntsessasasnsstassestenseneeesennesssssesensrrens $12,284 $25,223  $14,934
COSE OF TEVETIUECS. c.vv vt esbess s et s bbb s s sr bbbt st bes b e s s e R e b et st se bbb s st r b et 32,092 12,842 54,379
Amounts due from/(to) related parties as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

2002 2001
Due from/(to) Swenson Granite COmMPany, LLC ......c..ovvvcmmrercrmerisrinscemesenessensessssmssssmssssssssssmssssssssessssssssnsesses $(9,027) $ 16,263
DUE fTOTN GIANITE ACCENES, INIC. 11trieerireeretrisiiretetseesserseeesseseseeseessisessesaesessessessasssanesssssessessasassatsesossessasessassassesssasonnscsenss — 37,242
Due from Kotecki FAMILY ENTEIPIISES covurrereeeriemiieierierirecisniessrasseesssessssiesesnsessesssssasssasesssessasessosssssessecssnmssssessesss — 3,233
DUE fTOM ROCK OF AZES ASIA c..urevnreeniireireceeriseereeesesssesreetessiese e ssse s s s e sssest s s sassassssess st s sasecssossesessassensssenss 80,883 128,928
Due from Maple FArmS JAPAN ..o e anesesessses st e ssessessssseseesonosissnassssnesssnne — 45,816

$71,856  $231,482

See note 4 for operating lease obligations with related parties.

Un uﬂt/v,w «77’[@”@/ SMT’WT/T(/Vy ém@f?””@ﬁ@“
The followmg isa summary of unaudited quarterly summary 1nformat10n for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in
thousands, except per share data): Net Income
Net Income  (Loss) Per Share
Net Net Income  (Loss) Per Assuming
2002 Quarters: (1) Revenues (Loss) Share Dilution
T A0 N $12,188  (32435)  (4.13) (4.12)
SEEOMNA w..vereerrireeiecaeerie e s eeresseree s ses e bese s bs bt enss skt ket nnt e 29,134 3,848 0.49 0.49
TRIEA ettt bbbttt s ebt bbb "24,277 1,674 0.21 0.21
FOUITN i it rer e ncs bbb et sbeen 26,915 1,998 - 0.26 0.26

Total $92,514  (24,915) (3.17) (3.16)

2001 Quarters:

First $13,319 (3,682) (0.49) (0.49)
Second 31,297 4,089 0.54 0.54
Third 24,722 (1,033) (0.14) (0.14)
Fourth 24,967 1,059 0.14 0.14
Total $94,305 433 0.06 0.06
2000 Quarters:
FITSE vttt et veseseses st ntes b ettt snts s enbentss et snt s s b enans $14,233 (2,693) {0.36) (0.36)
SECONMA ottt sttt st ssaesesenaenen 28,813 3,211 0.43 0.42
TRIED 1ttt bbbt b s bbbttt s s s tae b et n ettt 23,528 1,355 0.18 0.18
Fourth (3) 24,119 590 0.08 0.09
TOMAL oottt a e e se sttt na s $90,693 2,463 0.33 0.33
NOTE

The Company has historically experienced certain seasonal patterns, primarily due to weather conditions affecting operations in Vermont and Canada and the setting of
memorials in cemetertes located in northern regions,

(1) The 2002 quarterly results have been restated to reflect the specific annual average cost method of valuing quarry inventory.

(2)  The 2002 first quarter results reflect a $34 million non-cash charge recorded as of January 1, 2002, which is the cumulative effect of the write-down of goodwill o its fair value,
less a deferred tax asset related thereto of $5.3 million, plus the cumulative effect of change in valuing quarry inventory of $280,000, net of tax effect of $107,000 (see notes 2
and 3),

(3)  The 2000 fourth quarter results have been affected by certain significant nonrecurring items. The Company evaluated certain assets for impasrment and subsequently
recorded a reduction in the value of these assets, amounting to approximately $843,000. Also, as the Company refined its standard costing system, and old inventory was
replaced by new inventory, the net effect on cost of sales in the fourth quarter was approximately a $600,000 increase to cost of sales.




The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly information showing the effect of the change in valuing quarry inventory on the first,
second and third quarters of 2002 as discussed in note 3.

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2002 June 30, 2002 September 30, 2002

Net income (loss) as originally reported before cumulative effect
of changes in accOUNtNG PrINCIPIES ....vvvueverrrereiinrieniiressesisressssssssssstes s ssnsssasseseens $ (3,751) $3,699 $1,604

Effect of a change to specific average annual cost method of
COSHING QUATTY INVEIEOTY wovrvercrorivssinseiommmeesemstsmmstnesemmecssonessosssiocssosssssersesssssisnesnesssessesesssnecs 26 149 70

Cumulative effect on prior years of change in accounting principles
(net of taX DEnefit 0f $5,459) ...t sssssssss st sbss s ns (28,710) — —

Net income (l08s) a8 TESTALEM ....ccvvrvrrirvereriirseiniiens st seses sttt sstssssssesssssssssssessssssssssns $(32,435) $3,848 $1,674

Net income (loss) as originally reported before cumulative effect of
changes in acCOUNtING PIINCIPIES evvvrermrereerieeccrsereeernreesestsesrees st s s essenesenisesens $ (0.48) $ 047 $ 020

Effect of change to specific annual average cost method of costing quarry inventory...... 0.01 0.02 0.01

Cumulative effect on prior years of changes in accounting principles
{net of tax benefit 0f $5,459) ..t essae st st sass et eens (3.66) — —

Net income (108S) @S TESTATEA ......uevvvvvirereierireree e e st sesna et b $ (4.13) $ 049 $ 021

Per Share AMOounNts — DIIULE: ....oveveivevciiieee i iereetere e ssressseseesessessssasscsessssssssonssensis

Net income (loss) as originally reported before cumulative effect of
changes in accoUnting PrinCiples ... $ (0.48) $ 047 $ 020

Effect of change to specific annual average cost method of costing quarry inventory...... 0.01 0.02 0.01

Cumulative effect on prior years of changes in accounting principles
{net of tax DENEIt OF $5,459) .oviiiimiiiee i ssss s bse s s ss s veresrs s sssnssssssessanes (3.65) — —

Net Income (1088) a8 TESTALEA ..ot eere st es s ssstos b sssssasnessssnseeorsssios $ (4.12) $ 049 $ 021

The impact of the change in accounting for quarry inventory on previously reported net income for the for the first, second and third quar-
ters of 2002 is the result of older blocks sold during those periods with a historical lower annual average cost. The impact on the fiscal year
2002 is the result of valuing the inventory quarried in previous years at the specific annual average cost for those respective years as opposed
to the current year higher specific annual average cost.

Cumulative effect on prior years of changes in accounting principles also includes the cumulative effect adjustment of $28,430 for adoption
of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” as originally reported in the March 31, 2002 Form 10-Q.
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13. Earnings per share

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) computations for

net income for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

Numerator:
[ncome available to common shareholders used in basic and

diluted earnings per Share .........ovoeeminrencennrenenecenmerecerssnenes

Denominator:

SEOCK OPTIONS 11ovvererrrcessriesneresemmisemsisessessescssosssessmeasssnsesnsssssssessonsess
Denominator for diluted earnings per share: ......c.cc.cveecrnecnens

Adjusted weighted average shares........c..cucoovererrinecnecrmcnecrinnenns
Basic €arnings Per Share.........c.vriivnmccnienseccss s

Diluted earnings per Share.......coo.coermiimccesenecinecnesssssenenens

2002 2001 2000

.............................................. $(24915211) $ 432,778  $2,463,496
7,847,821 7,605,785 7,447,460

.............................................. 32,340 70,205 128,379
.............................................. 7,880,161 7,675,990 7,575,839
.............................................. $ (317) $ 006 $ 033
.............................................. $ (3.16) § 006 $ 0.33

Options to purchase 320,000 shares of Class A common stock at exercises prices ranging from $5.98 to $12.38 per share were outstanding in
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the options’ exercise price was greater than

the average market price of the common shares during those years.

14. Segment Information

The Company is organized based on the products and services that
it offers. Under this organizational structure, the Company operates
in four segments: quarrying, manufacturing, retailing and cemeteries.

tures some specialized granite products for industrial applications.
The retailing segment engraves and sells memorials and other
granite products at various locations throughout the United States.
The cemetery segment sells funeral services such as grave open-
ings and closings and cemetery merchandise such as vaults, mark-

The quarrying segment extracts granite from the ground and
sells it to both the manufacturing segment and to outside manufac-
turers, as well as to distributors in Europe and Japan.

ers and mausoleums.

Inter-segment revenues are accounted for as if the sales were to

The manufacturing segment’s principal product is granite third parties.
memorials used primarily in cemeteries, although it also manufac-
2002 Quarrying  Manufacturing  Retailing Cemeteries  Corporate Total
Overhead

TOUA] TIET FEVEIIUES vvvveveeeeeeerieraoreesennereeseesesssserensenseseessnsserasens $31,425 $28,052 $38,449 $4,604 $ — $102,530
[nter-segment Nt IEVEITULS....cuerrcremeironiirenmeraressorssmsessecsonses 1,690 8,326 — — — 10,016
INE TEVEIIUES c1evvvverireieeerererrsrennnreressiassesissssesesastesesssessatesennnens 29,735 19,726 38,449 4,604 — 92,514
Total Gross Profit.......wcciiciiicnmennicneinsssisc s 13,569 5,496 21,314 2,009 — 42,388
Inter-segment gross profit.........oormcrncemercnsnen. 585 (25) — — — 560
GIOSS PTOfI.uvrrereererrricresresse s ssssessteesssreessssecssesssssaansneses 12,984 5,521 21,314 2,009 — 41,828
Selling, general and administrative eXpenses .........cc.cvereveens 4,992 3,376 20,896 1,330 5,274 35,868
Income (loss) from Operations..........cooweeeerseeeermscrrvcermnseceenene $7,992 $2,145 $418 $679  $(5,274) $5,960




2001 Quarrying  Manufacturing  Retailing Cemeteries Corporate Total
Overhead
TOLAL TIEE TEVETILES 1rvvvevveereeseeeerrereeeressesssssseeseesssssressssessesassesnsons $28,648  $31,446 $43,159 $3,143 $ — $106,396
Inter-segment Net TEVENUES....c.ecreerecnrmeersenienensserserssenns 2,873 9,218 — — — 12,091
NEL TEVENUES ..vvevcverie ettt e rer s reserebe s b sesseess 25,775 22,228 43,159 3,143 — 94,305
Total gross Profit....c.crcrccicrieners s 12,450 5,249 24,531 818 — 43,048
Inter-segment gross Profit.....cceeereeremeremcssneeeens 1,103 (173) (930) — — —
GTOSS PIOfiticccuricenermicriiicercsnenieesmmeeescssseneeseesssesssmesess 11,347 5,422 25,461 818 — 43,048
Selling, general and administrative eXpenses ........oc.cweres 4,388 4,833 22,555 1,203 3,728 36,707
Loss on disposal Of aSSetS.......reerereenrrescemerenernreesesesssaeeenns 197 2,337 — — — 2,534
Income (10sS) from OPErations.............coveceeercenmemenerermersoneenes $6762  $(1,748) $ 2,906 $(385)  $(3,728) $ 3,807
2000 Quarrying  Manufacturing  Retailing Corporate Total
QOverhead

TOLAL TIEL TEVEIIUES 11ttt st r ettt tssb oo seseesstsea st otsonseaesennentassnes $26,588  $35,763  $40,622 $§ — $102,973
Inter-segment NEt TEVENUES .....ovvivmmieeminininiesisesesesontsessssessesseesenessssenss 3,701 8,579 — — 12,280
L TEVENUES...ovrvevriiereiriereerreeeeeessssvastersbresssesteseassssssssesossarssssssssssssesssssorsrssereans 22,887 27,184 40,622 — 90,693
Total GrOSS PrOfit....cumuiceoscrinrreerenriieemiecssrernereenscisesassscsecrssesssssensssssssssecsenne 11,249 6,254 21,558 — 39,061
[nter-segment gross Profit ..o 1,378 (547) (831) — —
GIOSS PIOTIL w.veoricrrcenecernnec st st 9,871 6,801 22,389 — 39,061
Selling, general and

AAMINISIIATIVE EXPEIISES crvvevmerereeserieererneesesreresessensnsisesensseesossisessssssessnsssssunesanes 3,011 5,721 21,476 2,956 33,164
Income (105S) fTOmM OPEIAtIONS....urvererrrsrcrriererisermeresreessensisseesssssssneessnsessons $680 $ 1,080 $ 913 $(2,956) $ 5,897

Net revenues by geographic area are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

2002 2001 2000
Net revenues (1):
URIEEA STALES ...vuev ettt ere sttt e sases sttt stsnesoess st esosseassssasseasssasentansssssassonseassosnenssomnes $84,494  $86,316  $82,886
CANAAA 1ot et er e b bt sttt b etk b b A s Sb et t s se bt seR e st st bt ot b et 8,020 7,989 7,807
TOTAL 1B TEVEITUES ...vevvevrereesreeeeseeeeeesesetesseassesseessssasssesssesenossesessesessenesssessessessenensessasessssasassasesessnsasesensasssmnes $92,514  $94,305  $90,693

(1) Net revenues are attributed to countries based on where product is produced.

Long-lived assets by geographic area are as follows as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

2002 2001 2000
Long-lived assets:
URIEA SEALES ..ovvvv v icmssicsnissin s smis s srs s b aas s aas s $41,686 841,203 $42,543
CANAGA e bbbt bbb e R b bR bbb es s be s bt b e bbb n b asrsrera 2,235 1,940 1,904

$43,921  $43,143  $44,447

15. AC@MZ Slfl ons 2001. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at

estimated fair values as determined by the Company’s management
based on information currently available and on current assump-
tions as to future operations which has resulted in $1,271,150 of
cost in excess of net assets acquired.

For the period January through December 2000, the Company,
through its subsidiary Rock of Ages Memorials, Inc. acquired
American Monument Company and Union County Memorials,
Inc.

On January 3, 2001 the Company acquired 16 cemeteries and one
granite retailer in Kentucky. The aggregate purchase price was
approximately $7.5 million consisting of $7 million in cash and an
additional consideration amount of $558,000 that has been classi-
fied as other liabilities and will be paid in four annual installments
commencing December 2001. The acquisition was accounted for
by the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly the consol-
idated statement of operations includes the results of operations of
the acquired cemeteries and granite retailer beginning January 3,
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The aggregate consideration for the 2000 acquisitions was
$655,081. The aggregate purchase price has been allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their respective
fair market values resulting in $209,055 of costs in excess of net
assets acquired.

The following unaudited pro forma information has been pre-
pared assuming that the acquisitions occurred at the beginning of
the current and immediately preceding periods, if presented. The
pro forma information is presented for information purposes only
and is not necessarily indicative of what would have occurred if the
acquisitions had been made as of those dates.

(Unaudited) Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000
Net TeVeTIUES evrereeeeerrrereriaceenne $94,304,657 $95,422 318
Net INCOMErvirniirieerieerirensineas 432,778 2,672,086
Net income per share................. .06 .36
Net income per share —
assuming dilution.......co.eccvuue... 06 35

In October 2001, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the
Lawson manufacturing plant in Barre, Vermont. This sale is consis-
tent with the Company’s desire to dispose of certain unprofitable
operations and to reallocate resources from the manufacture of
commodity memorials and focus on its retail strategy.

In connection with this sale, the Company determined that the
values of certain assets had been impaired. At December 31, 2001,

in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of” (SFAS No. 121), the
Company recorded a non-cash charge related to the impairment of
assets of $800,003.

These assets held for sale have been grouped together and clas-
sified as “assets held for sale” in the current assets section of the bal-
ance sheet. Assets held for sale have been written down to their real-
izable values based upon expected sale proceeds. The Lawson sale
was completed in January 2002.

During-the second quarter of 2001 the Company sold an idled
Saw Plant in Barre, Vermont in which cash of $300,505 was received
in exchange for $515,433 of assets.

During the third quarter of 2001, the Company completed the
sale of the SMI and Childs & Childs manufacturing plants and the
Royalty and Millstone quarries in Elberton Georgia in which cash of
$3,250,000 net of closing costs of $287,467 was received and a note
receivable was recorded for $1,640,000 in exchange for $6,121,693
of assets. The loss on sale of assets reported for the year ending
December 31, 2001, includes a non-tax deductible disposal of intan-
gible assets of approximately $3.7 million. Taxable income resulted
from the sale of inventory and property and equipment, the impact
of which was recorded in the three months ended September
30,2001. The sale of these assets is not expected to have any materi-
al effect on income taxes in future periods.



Independent Auditors’ Report on
Supplementary Information

The Board of Directors Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries:

The Board of Directors Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries:

Under date of February 21, 2003, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Rock of Ages Corporation and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2002. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we also
audited the related consolidated financial statement schedule referred to as “Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying
Accounts and Reserves.” This financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement schedule based on our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

As discussed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for
its quarry inventory from the first-in, first-out method to the specific annual average cost method.

KPre P

KPMG LLP
/s/ KPMG LLP

February 21, 2003
Boston, Massachusetts
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Rock of Ages Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule IT—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

and Reserves

Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Additions
Descriptions . Ba}ance_at ' lncreas.e‘d.ue to  Charged to Costs _ Balance at
Beginning of Period  Acquisitions and Expenses  Deductions  End of Period
2002
Allowances for doubtful acCOUNLS «...eeveveeeeeere e $1,548 — 675 1,177 1,046
2001
Allowances for doubtful 2CCOUNTS .ovvvveverereeeee e $1,303 534 743 1,032 1,548
2000
Allowances for doubtful aCCOUNTS c.v.eeveeeeeeereeee e $1,826 — 362 885 1,303

See accompanying independent auditors’ report on supplementary information.
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